

LUND UNIVERSITY

Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances

Kelly, Julia

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Kelly, J. (2021). Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances. Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances

JULIA KELLY ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE | CEC | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances

- I. Challenges and best practices for deriving temperature data from an uncalibrated UAV thermal infrared camera
- **II.** Modelling and upscaling ecosystem respiration using thermal cameras and UAVs: application to a peatland during and after a hot drought
- III. Upscaling northern peatland CO₂ fluxes using satellite remote sensing data
- **IV.** Boreal forest soil carbon fluxes one year after a wildfire: effects of burn severity and management



Faculty of Science Centre for Environmental and Climate Science



Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances

Julia Kelly



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended in the Blue Hall, Ecology Building, Sölvegatan 37, Lund University on Wednesday 10th March 2021 at 2pm, for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Nigel Roulet McGill University Canada

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSER	RTATION	
Centre for Environmental and Climate Science	Date of issue		
Author: Julia Kelly	Sponsoring organiza	tion	
Title and subtitle Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances			
Abstract Boreal forests and peatlands are globally significant carbon stores but they are threatened by rising air temperatures and changes in precipitation regimes and the frequency of natural disturbances. Predicting how the boreal biome will respond to climate change depends on being able to accurately model and upscale the greenhouse gas fluxes between these ecosystems and the atmosphere. This thesis focuses on developing simple, empirical, remote sensing models of ecosystem respiration (ER) and assessing how ER varies over space and in response to natural disturbances such as drought and wildfire. Paper I and II tested the opportunities and limitations offered by newly available, miniaturized thermal cameras, which can capture images of surface temperature at sub-decimeter resolution. Since temperature is one of the most important factors driving ER, these cameras provide an opportunity to map ER in unprecedented detail. In Paper III, satellite land surface temperature (LST) data was used to model ER across several Nordic peatland sites to examine whether remote sensing models can capture variations in ER between sites. In addition, Paper II and III highlighted the impacts of the extreme 2018 drought that affected large parts of Europe on peatland CO ₂ fluxes. The drought also led to a severe wildfire season in Sweden and Paper IV investigated how the effects of fire on forest soils depended on burn severity, salvage-logging and stand age.			
Producing reliable surface temperature measurements from miniaturized thermal cameras requires careful data collection and processing and one of the main outcomes of this thesis is a set of best practices for thermal camera users. Despite including larger uncertainties than traditional soil or air temperature measurements, thermal data from these cameras is suitable for modeling ER in peatland ecosystems. The ER maps that can be produced using UAV thermal cameras offer a unique resource for evaluating how ER varies within a flux tower footprint and could reveal potential biases in flux tower measurements. Indeed, this thesis demonstrated that there is substantial spatial variation in ER, both within and between peatlands. Vegetation composition played a significant role in driving this spatial variation as well as the response of peatlands to drought. Nevertheless, using only LST and the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI2) as model inputs captured a large proportion of the variability of daily ER across multiple peatlands. With further developments, such a modeling approach could represent a simple and effective way of estimating peatland ER across Scandinavia. In terms of wildfire impacts on boreal forest soils, stand age had a significant impact on soil respiration, nutrient availability and microclimate, whereas salvage-logging did not, in the first year after fire. Furthermore, the effects of drought and wildfire on ER depended on their severity, but during both extreme water stress in peatlands and after severe burning in forests, ER decreased. It is important that this negative feedback is accounted for in ER models to avoid overestimating carbon loss from northern ecosystems in response to disturbances and climate change.			
Key words carbon fluxes, CH ₄ , climate change, CO ₂ , drought, ecosystem respiration, forest, peatland, remote sensing, temperature, thermal camera, UAV, wildfire			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN 978-91-7895-723-1 (print) 978-91-7895-724-8 (pdf)	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 188	Price	
	Security classification	1	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Julia Kelly

Date 2021-01-28

Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances

Julia Kelly



Cover photo by Julia Kelly

Copyright pp 1-60 Julia Kelly Paper 1 © by the Authors, CC-BY 4.0 License Paper 2 © by the Authors, CC-BY 4.0 License Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Science Centre for Environmental and Climate Science

ISBN (print) 978-91-7895-723-1 ISBN (pdf) 978-91-7895-724-8

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

Table of Contents

List of papers	7
Author contributions	9
Popular summary	
Introduction	15
Aims	23
Methods	25
Results and discussion	
Conclusions	45
References	47
Acknowledgements	59
Paper I	61
Paper II	85
Paper III	
Paper IV	147

List of papers

- I. Kelly, J., Kljun, N., Olsson, P-O., Mihai, L., Liljebladh, B., Weslien, P., Klemedtsson, L., Eklundh, L. 2019. *Challenges and Best Practices* for Deriving Temperature Data from an Uncalibrated UAV Thermal Infrared Camera. Remote Sensing, 11, 567.
- II. Kelly, J., Kljun, N., Eklundh, L., Klemedtsson, L., Liljebladh, B., Olsson, P-O., Weslien, P., Xie, X. 2021. *Modelling and upscaling ecosystem respiration using thermal cameras and UAVs: application to a peatland during and after a hot drought.* Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 300, 108330.
- III. Junttila, S., Kelly, J., Kljun, N., Aurela, M., Klemedtsson, L., Lohila, A., Nilsson, M. B., Rinne, J., Tuittila, E-S., Vestin, P., Weslien, P., Eklundh, L. Upscaling Northern Peatland CO₂ Fluxes Using Satellite Remote Sensing Data. Submitted to Remote Sensing.
- IV. Kelly, J., Ibáñez, T. S., Santín, C., Doerr, S. H., Nilsson, M-C., Holst, T., Lindroth, A., Kljun, N. Boreal forest soil carbon fluxes one year after a wildfire: effects of burn severity and management. Manuscript

Author contributions

- I. Conceptualization and Methodology, J.K. (lead), N.K. and L.E. (supporting); Investigation, J.K. (lead), P.O., L.M., B.L. and P.W. (supporting); Resources, L.K., L.E. and N.K.; Formal Analysis, Visualization and Writing Original Draft, J.K.; Writing Review and Editing, J.K. (lead) and all other authors (supporting); Funding acquisition, N.K., L.E. and J.K.
- II. Conceptualization and Methodology, J.K. and N.K.; Investigation, J.K. (lead), P.O., B.L. and P.W. (supporting); Resources, L.K., L.E and N.K.; Formal Analysis, J.K. (lead), X.X. (supporting land cover classification); Visualization and Writing Original Draft, J.K.; Writing Review and Editing, J.K. (lead) and all other authors (supporting); Funding acquisition, N.K., L.E. and J.K.
- III. Conceptualization and Methodology, S.J., J.K. and L.E.; Investigation and Formal Analysis, S.J. (Sentinel-2 data processing, GPP and NEE modelling), J.K. (MODIS data processing, ER modelling and footprint analysis); Software, N.K. (supporting footprint analysis); Resources, L.E. and N.K.; Data curation, M.A., L.K., A.L., M.B.N., J.R., E-S.T., P.V., P.W.; Visualization, S.J. and J.K.; Writing – Original Draft, S.J.; Writing – Review and Editing, S.J. and J.K. (lead) and all other authors (supporting); Funding acquisition, L.E. and N.K.
- IV. Conceptualization, N.K.; Methodology, N.K. (lead), C.S. and S.H.D. (supporting); Investigation, T.S.I., N.K., C.S. and S.H.D.; Resources, N.K., C.S., S.H.D. and A.L.; Formal Analysis, J.K. and T.S.I.; Visualization and Writing – Original Draft, J.K.; Writing – Review and Editing, J.K. (lead) and all other authors (supporting); Funding acquisition, N.K.

Popular summary

Boreal ecosystems are a globally important carbon sink, currently storing at least a fifth of all the carbon contained in terrestrial ecosystems. However, the fate of this carbon sink is uncertain because rising air temperatures and changes in precipitation and the frequency of natural disturbances are impacting the movement of carbon between these ecosystems and the atmosphere. For example, although higher air temperatures may prolong the growing season, allowing plants to photosynthesize and capture carbon over a longer period each year, warmer conditions also stimulate the release of carbon by plants and by soil microbes as they decompose organic matter. The balance of these two processes, photosynthesis and ecosystem respiration (ER), determines whether ecosystems are net sinks or sources of carbon dioxide (CO_2). Being able to accurately predict photosynthesis and ER is crucial, since a change in either of these carbon fluxes has a direct impact on atmospheric carbon concentrations and the rate of climate change.

This thesis is comprised of four papers and has two main aims. The first aim was to develop new and simple methods to model ER using data collected by thermal cameras on drones and satellites. Thermal cameras take images of temperature, which is one of the main factors controlling the rate of ER. By using these cameras, temperature, and therefore ER, can be mapped over far bigger areas and in greater detail than can be measured on the ground. Attaching cameras to drones allows the collection of highly detailed data over a few hectares, whereas satellites collect data in less detail but over larger areas, from a few hectares to the whole globe. However, producing reliable temperature data from the low-cost, miniaturized thermal cameras used on drones is not straightforward. Therefore Paper I tested the performance of such a camera in the laboratory and in the field to identify the potential sources of error and quantify how much uncertainty they contributed to the temperature measurements.

Papers II and III focused on modelling the ER of peatlands, because peatlands contain dense carbon stocks that have been accumulating for thousands of years. Peatlands are also characterized by variations in microtopography that can lead to substantial differences in microclimate and vegetation species over just a few centimetres. Paper II investigated how the high resolution data from drones could be used to understand the effects of this spatial variation on carbon fluxes within a peatland, whilst Paper III focused on modelling and predicting variations in the carbon fluxes among five peatlands spread across Sweden and Finland.

The second aim of this thesis was to investigate how an extreme drought in 2018 impacted the carbon exchange of Nordic ecosystems. Peatlands are particularly vulnerable to drought because they are dependent on maintaining waterlogged conditions to slow the decomposition of their dense carbon stocks. Warmer temperatures and dry conditions are thus expected to have a large impact on their carbon emissions. The carbon flux data collected in Papers II and III provided an opportunity to test this assumption. In Sweden, the 2018 drought led to the worst wildfire season in over a century. Paper IV quantified the effects of the largest wildfire that year on forest soils, including how it affected the exchange of two greenhouse gases (CO₂ and methane), soil microclimate and chemistry. In particular, it investigated how the characteristics of the burn (burn severity), forest age and post-fire salvage-logging (versus leaving the trees standing) affected the forest soil.

There were four main outcomes from this thesis. Firstly, Paper I produced a set of best practices for using thermal cameras on drones that will benefit anyone seeking to use these cameras to record reliable temperature data. There are many applications for this type of data, from precision agriculture, where crop temperature is used to assess irrigation needs, to archaeology, where temperature maps are used to detect buried structures.

Secondly, Papers II and III showed that even simple remote sensing models could produce reasonably good predictions of peatland ER. The papers also highlighted that accounting for the spatial variability of vegetation composition and water table depth, both within and between peatlands, is key to producing accurate ER estimates. The drone data in Paper II enabled, for the first time, ER to be mapped across a peatland in high detail and such maps could be used to evaluate whether our carbon flux measurements are capturing the full range of peatland CO₂ emissions. Furthermore, the models developed in Paper III provide a foundation for estimating peatland CO₂ fluxes across the whole of Scandinavia, which could help policymakers develop sustainable management policies for these areas.

Thirdly, Papers II-IV showed that the effect of drought and wildfire on carbon exchange is closely tied to the severity of the disturbance, but that at times of very acute water stress or after a severe burn, ecosystem CO_2 emissions can decrease. The reduction of ER did not prevent peatlands from turning into net carbon sources during the 2018 drought because the drought also led to declines in photosynthesis (i.e. carbon uptake).

Nevertheless, these results suggest that some peatlands may lose less carbon than expected during extreme drought.

Finally, Paper IV showed that the amount of time between forest disturbances exerts a substantial influence on forest soils. Salvage-logging directly after a fire had no additional effects on forest soils compared to not salvage-logging, although this result was only applicable where the trees had already been killed by the fire. However, when fire occurred 12 years after a previous clear cut, the young forest had much less time to recover its soil carbon and nutrient stocks compared to stands which were mature at the time of the fire. The increasing frequency of wildfire in certain parts of the boreal region could therefore threaten the long-term carbon storage capacity of these forests.

Introduction

Importance of boreal ecosystems in the global carbon cycle

Boreal forests are the world's second largest forest biome and 87% of the world's peatlands are found in boreal and subarctic regions (see Figure 1; Keenan et al., 2015; Vitt, 2006). These two ecosystems play a key role in the global carbon cycle, because they store at least 20% of all terrestrial biosphere carbon (and this is likely an underestimate; Bradshaw and Warkentin, 2015; IPCC, 2013). The majority of this carbon is held underground in soil and peat (Bradshaw and Warkentin, 2015). Understanding and predicting the movement of carbon between these stores and the atmosphere is critical, since these fluxes have a direct impact on atmospheric carbon concentrations and thus climate change. At the global scale, the carbon dioxide (CO_2) flux in or out of the biosphere every year is ~10 times larger than the amount of CO_2 emitted from burning fossil fuels (IPCC, 2013; Yuan et al., 2011).

The carbon balance of boreal ecosystems is largely determined by the uptake and release of CO_2 , but methane (CH₄) fluxes and aquatic exports of dissolved carbon also play an important role (Chi et al., 2020; Roulet et al., 2007). Net ecosystem exchange (NEE) is the balance between gross primary production (GPP), the uptake of CO_2 during photosynthesis, and ecosystem respiration (ER), the release of CO_2 by plants as they convert the products of photosynthesis into energy (i.e. autotrophic respiration, R_a) and by soil microbes as they decompose organic matter (i.e. heterotrophic respiration, R_b). Boreal forests can be sinks or sources of CO_2 and dry upland forests tend to be CH_4 sinks (Covey and Megonigal, 2019; Dunn et al., 2007). Northern peatlands are usually CO_2 sinks and CH_4 sources (Lund et al., 2010; Turetsky et al., 2014). This thesis has primarily focused on studying peatland ER fluxes, as well as forest soil respiration and CH_4 fluxes.



Figure 1. Location of the boreal biome (in green). Data sources: FAO (2010) and The World Bank Group (2020).

ER is particularly important in northern ecosystems, because it contributes more to NEE than GPP does, compared to the NEE of ecosystems at lower latitudes (Valentini et al., 2000). The seasonal variability of boreal ecosystem carbon fluxes is also larger than those at lower latitudes (Falge et al., 2002). As a result, boreal ecosystem NEE tends to be a small difference between two very large fluxes (GPP and ER). The ability to distinguish and separately model GPP and ER is therefore particularly important for these ecosystems, since a small change in either could result in a large change to NEE and dictate whether the ecosystem is a source or sink of carbon.

Peatlands are especially effective at storing carbon because their waterlogged conditions slow the decomposition of organic matter, allowing it to accumulate over thousands of years. Although waterlogging leads to the production of CH₄, a more potent greenhouse gas than CO₂, CH₄ does not remain in the atmosphere for as long as CO₂. As a result, over centennial to millennial timescales peatlands have had a net cooling effect on the climate (Frolking et al., 2011; Whiting and Chanton, 2001). Over decadal timescales or shorter, boreal peatlands are generally CO₂ sinks, although the NEE of a particular peatland can vary widely from year to year in response to changes in climatic variables such as air temperature, water table depth and snowmelt timing (Aurela et al., 2004; Peichl et al., 2014). Other important controls on peatland CO₂ exchange are the length of the growing season, vegetation phenology, LAI (leaf area index) and pH (Koebsch et al., 2020; Lund et al., 2010). The spatial variation of carbon fluxes within a peatland is closely related to microtopography, which is discussed later on.

Impacts of climate change, drought and wildfire on boreal ecosystem carbon fluxes

Climate change is occurring faster in the arctic and boreal regions than anywhere else on the globe: by the end of the century, these regions could become over 5 °C warmer and experience precipitation increases of between 10-50% (IPCC, 2014). Rising air temperatures can increase growing season length, stimulating carbon uptake, but also raise ER rates (Flanagan and Syed, 2011; Keyser et al., 2000). Determining the sensitivity of ER and GPP to temperature increases is thus critical for being able to predict whether boreal ecosystems will become net sinks or sources of carbon in the future.

Northern ecosystems are vulnerable not only to the direct effects of rising air temperatures, but also to the interaction of climate change with natural disturbances, such as drought, extreme heat events and wildfire. Despite the projected increases in precipitation, soil moisture availability is predicted to decline significantly in some boreal regions including Scandinavia, increasing the frequency of extreme summer drought in these areas (Cook et al., 2020). Wildfire risk is also predicted to increase in southern Sweden and across large parts of Russia and northern North America (De Groot et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2015). In 2018, persistent high temperatures and reduced precipitation led to a severe drought in central and northern Europe (Peters et al., 2020). Estimates suggest the drought was 10-100 more likely to occur as a result of anthropogenic climate change (Leach et al., 2020). Due to the unusually dry conditions, Sweden experienced an extremely severe fire season during which 25000 ha of forest burned, the largest area in 140 years (SOU, 2019). This thesis examined the impact of the drought on the CO₂ fluxes of several Scandinavian peatlands (focusing mostly on ER) and the effects of the wildfires on the soil chemistry and greenhouse gas exchange of a central Swedish forest.

Droughts and heatwaves in peatlands

The sensitivity of peatland ER to drought is not well constrained (Laiho, 2006). Both temperature, via its influence on the rate of biological reactions, and water table depth, via its influence on oxygen availability, affect ER. Therefore, many studies have shown that high temperatures and dry conditions increase peatland ER, causing a positive feedback that could increase the rate of climate change (e.g. Dorrepaal et al., 2009; Fenner and Freeman, 2011). However, others have only found weak relationships between peatland ER and water table depth, or declines in ER during water table

drawdown (Lafleur et al., 2005; Sulman et al., 2010). Furthermore, since a large proportion of peatland ER is autotrophic, changes in GPP can feedback to affect ER (Crow and Wieder, 2005; Olefeldt et al., 2017). Peatland GPP may decline during drought due to water stress, or increase during moderate reductions in the water table that increase oxygen and nutrient availability to plant roots (Aurela et al., 2007; Laine et al., 2019). Vascular plants may also respond differently to drought compared to *Sphagnum*, which cannot control its water content (Strack et al., 2009; Walker et al., 2016).

The sensitivity of peatland CO_2 exchange to drought therefore depends on a number of factors including the timing and severity of the drought, mean water table depth, vegetation composition and peatland type (Aurela et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2012; Sulman et al., 2010). As a result, peatland NEE has been observed to decline or remain stable during drought, depending on how ER and GPP are affected (Aurela et al., 2007; Laine et al., 2019; Olefeldt et al., 2017). The uncertainties in our understanding and the predicted increase in drought frequency emphasize the need for more in-situ measurements of peatland CO_2 fluxes during drought.

Wildfire in forests

Wildfire is a natural disturbance in boreal forests and shapes the vegetation composition, nutrient availability and carbon balance of these ecosystems (Bond-Lamberty et al., 2007; Zackrisson, 1977). If sufficiently long time intervals occur between fires, the large amounts of carbon emitted during a fire should be recovered in the following decades as vegetation regrows and organic matter is transferred to the soil (Landry and Matthews, 2016; Yue et al., 2016). Fire also produces pyrogenic carbon that is hard to degrade and thus acts as a long-term carbon store, accounting for 12% of the total carbon emitted by fires globally every year (Jones et al., 2019). However, the predicted increases in wildfire frequency and severity could turn boreal forests from sinks to sources of carbon because there is less time for forests to recover between disturbances (Walker et al., 2019).

Wildfires cause changes in microclimate, soil physical properties, nutrient availability and vegetation composition (Bond-Lamberty et al., 2007; Certini, 2005; O'Neill et al., 2002). All of these factors have a direct impact on forest carbon fluxes. Despite higher soil temperatures (due to reductions in canopy cover, evapotranspiration and albedo), soil respiration tends to decline after fire because fire consumes soil organic matter and changes nutrient availability (Allison et al., 2010; Dooley and Treseder, 2012; Ribeiro-Kumara et al., 2020). Measurements of soil CH₄ fluxes after boreal forest wildfires are more limited and CH₄ uptake has been shown to increase, decrease or not change after fire, depending on time since fire, soil temperature and moisture (Burke et al., 1997; Köster et al., 2018, 2017).

The magnitude of the changes in soil carbon fluxes due to fire are affected by several factors, including burn severity and forest management practices. Increasing burn severity, which is quantified based on the mortality of above- and/or belowground biomass, leads to larger reductions in soil respiration (Keeley, 2009; Ribeiro-Kumara et al., 2020). Where forests are managed for commercial production, salvage-logging (removal of burnt wood) is commonly implemented to reduce the risk of further disturbance (e.g. insect attack or fire) and recuperate usable wood. Despite the prevalence of salvage-logging, few studies have quantified its effects on soil carbon fluxes. An alternative post-fire management practice has recently emerged in Sweden: converting part of the burnt area into a nature reserve where the trees are left standing. There is thus an opportunity to compare the effects of salvage-logging versus leaving the trees standing on forest soils.

Modelling ecosystem respiration

ER is controlled by many factors including temperature, water availability, plant productivity, litter and soil organic matter quality and microbial community composition. In the gas flux and remote sensing research communities however, ER is often modelled using a simple exponential relationship to temperature (e.g. Ai et al., 2018; Lloyd and Taylor, 1994). Temperature controls the rates of reactions and also indirectly effects the majority of the other factors listed above that influence ER (Arrhenius, 1889; Davidson and Janssens, 2006; van't Hoff, 1898). The simplicity of this approach raises questions about what ER model shape should be used, especially as the predicted decomposition rates can diverge significantly at high temperatures (Sierra et al., 2016). Furthermore, since the relationship between temperature and ER is exponential or non-linear, even a small change in input temperature or model slope will lead to a large change in modelled ER. Such uncertainty is especially significant in light of the importance of ER and its temperature-sensitivity for predicting how boreal ecosystems will respond to climate change. In addition, ER models are used to partition measured NEE into ER and GPP (daytime ER can only be measured in specific cases and GPP cannot be measured directly), and thus any errors in modelled ER will be propagated to GPP and daytime ER (Lasslop et al., 2010; Reichstein et al., 2005).

Since ER is the sum of processes occurring throughout plants and the soil column, the choice of temperature metric (soil, air or surface) used to model ER is a source of ongoing discussion (Lasslop et al., 2012; Wohlfahrt and Galvagno, 2017).

Traditionally, air or soil temperature have been used because they can be accurately measured at high temporal resolution with commonly available instruments. To produce global estimates of ER using satellite data, land surface temperature data (LST) has been used but is limited by either a coarse temporal or spatial resolution (1 to 16 days, 60 m to 1 km, respectively). There is a notable sparsity of remote sensing models for estimating ER compared to GPP, but the ones that exist have used LST and spectral indices of vegetation greenness and soil moisture (Jägermeyr et al., 2014; Kimball et al., 2009).

Thermal infrared cameras

Thermal infrared cameras take images of surface temperature and as a result, they can provide higher spatial resolution data (pixel size <10 cm over areas 1-10000 m²) than traditional air or soil measurements. Miniaturized and relatively low-cost thermal cameras are becoming increasingly available, which has opened up new possibilities for using these cameras for scientific research in the field. In particular, hand-held cameras or cameras mounted to towers or on unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) can provide information on how surface temperature varies across a landscape in unprecedented detail (see Figure 2). Such data may be particularly valuable for studying heterogeneous ecosystems such as peatlands, where, for example, Leonard et al. (2018) found that surface temperature varied by more than 25 °C over a 100 m² area.



Figure 2. Comparison of UAV imagery of a peatland from (a) an RGB camera and (b) a thermal camera. The images show trees (top of frame), a boardwalk (right of frame) and the peatland surface (lower half of frame).

ER has already been successfully modelled using thermal data from satellites and aircraft. The use of higher spatial resolution data from tower-mounted or UAV-borne thermal cameras to model ER is a novel approach that deserves investigation. For

instance, Pau et al. (2018) found that using thermal camera images of a rainforest canopy improved the accuracy of modelled GPP compared to using air temperature. Few studies have used thermal cameras to collect continuous time series of surface temperature in the field (Aubrecht et al., 2016). By comparison, the use of field-based spectral sensors or phenological cameras is well-established, with national and international networks promoting data collection, often in tandem with carbon flux measurements (Eklundh et al., 2011; Gamon et al., 2006; Richardson et al., 2018). Within ecology, UAV thermal data has primarily been used for monitoring crop water stress and for modelling evapotranspiration (Berni et al., 2009; Hoffmann et al., 2016).

One of the reasons that the uptake of thermal cameras has lagged behind other spectral sensors may be the more complex data collection and processing required to produce robust surface temperature data. The thermal radiation measured by a thermal camera is the product of thermal radiation from the target object, the surrounding sky or objects, the atmosphere and the camera itself. Therefore, to measure only the surface temperature of the target object, all the other sources of radiation must be corrected for. As a result, the thermal cameras designed specifically for use on UAVs can have large measurements uncertainties (e.g. ± 5 °C). There is a clear need to test the performance of these cameras to assess how they can best be utilized in scientific research.

Measuring and upscaling carbon fluxes

This thesis uses two types of carbon flux measurements: chamber and eddy covariance (EC; Baldocchi et al., 1988; Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). Using chambers allows the targeted measurement of one or a few plants or a small area of soil and thus the abiotic and biotic conditions (e.g. temperature, soil moisture and vegetation species) in those areas can be directly linked to the derived fluxes. EC measurements record greenhouse gas fluxes within an area, known as the footprint, which, for a given measurement height, changes according to the wind direction, atmospheric turbulence and the structure of the surface. The location and probability density function of the footprint can be estimated using a footprint model (Kljun et al., 2015). Since the EC data only records the aggregated flux for the whole footprint, which may contain a range of microclimatic conditions or vegetation species, it is more challenging to assess which factors are driving changes in the EC-derived fluxes compared to using chamber-derived fluxes.

The aim of upscaling is to produce large scale (from landscape to the global terrestrial surface) estimates of carbon fluxes, based on the smaller-scale measurements of these

fluxes described above that are conducted at individual sites. There are several upscaling methods available (atmospheric inversions, mechanistic models, machine learning models), but this thesis focuses on using remote sensing data. Simple empirical models can be used to draw relationships between the remote sensing data, which represents the abiotic and biotic variables that influence carbon exchange, and the carbon flux measurements themselves (e.g. Olofsson et al., 2008). The accuracy of these models and the observational data they are based on is key to ensuring the robustness of the upscaled flux estimates. Having reliable, large-scale carbon flux estimates is important for assessing how ecosystems are responding to climate change. They also provide a dataset against which the results of mechanistic models can be compared, and thus help improve the accuracy of predictions of the future state of the Earth's biosphere.

One of the major challenges to upscaling is assessing how the spatial variability of soil and vegetation properties across an ecosystem affects our upscaled flux estimates. It is especially important that we understand the status of the vegetation being measured in the flux tower footprint, and can assess whether these measurements are representative of an ecosystem as a whole (e.g. Chasmer et al., 2008). Boreal peatlands are characterized by spatial variation in their microtopography that can create sunken hollows where the water table is at, or close to, the surface, and raised hummocks which sit above the water table. As a result of differences in the hydrology, microclimate and vegetation species present in these microtopographical zones, carbon fluxes can vary significantly across a peatland (e.g. Waddington and Roulet, 1996). Such spatial heterogeneity can cause mismatches between the vegetation properties being measured on the ground versus those captured by the coarse resolution satellite data used for upscaling (e.g. Gelybó et al., 2013). It is therefore crucial that our measurements and models capture the spatial variability of carbon fluxes and their drivers, so as to minimize errors in our upscaled flux estimates and improve our predictions of how an ecosystem will respond to environmental change.

Aims

The aims of this thesis are to improve our understanding of the processes regulating carbon fluxes in boreal peatlands and forests and to test new methods to model and upscale these fluxes. In particular, this thesis focuses on ecosystem respiration (ER), its response to temperature and disturbances, and assesses how thermal imagery can be used to capture these responses at a range of spatial scales. It specifically considers how using spatial data influences our understanding of carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems. This thesis aims to answer the following research questions:

- What are the opportunities and limitations to using thermal data for modelling and upscaling ER?
- Can ER be modelled using only remote sensing data?
- How does spatial heterogeneity affect ER modelling and upscaling?
- How do wildfire and drought impact ER and CH₄ in boreal ecosystems?

Methods

Paper I

Paper I tested the performance of a miniaturized UAV thermal camera (Vue Pro 640, FLIR Systems, Inc.) in the laboratory and in the field. The aim of the paper was to assess the extent to which the signal output from the camera was affected by changes in the temperature of the camera and its surroundings. The tests were also designed to show whether a simple calibration (empirical line method) could be used to derive temperature data from the camera (the camera was not radiometrically calibrated, i.e. it only provided raw signal data in digital numbers, no temperature information). The empirical line method involves fitting a linear regression between raw spectral data and a measured variable (in this case, temperature). In the laboratory experiments, the camera took images of a blackbody (a near-perfect emitter of infrared radiation with controllable temperature) while being subjected to perturbations to simulate the effects of UAV flight, including changes in air temperature and wind speed. In the field, ground calibration plates were designed and installed that represented a range of known temperatures and could be used for an empirical line calibration. Four UAV flights (using an Explorian 8 Quadcopter, Pitchup AB) were then conducted to test the performance of the camera.

Paper II

The aim of the paper was to test the feasibility of using thermal cameras to model and upscale ER. Data were collected at Mycklemossen, a hemi-boreal peatland in south western Sweden, which is part of the Swedish Infrastructure for Ecosystem Science network (Figure 3). A thermal camera (A65, FLIR Systems, Inc.) was mounted on a tower to capture a series of high temporal (every 5 min) and spatial (<2 cm/pixel) resolution images of the surface temperature of the peatland (Figure 4). In the field of view of the camera, six collars were used to make manual dark chamber measurements of ER (June to September, 2018-2019, 516 measurements in total). The high frequency (1 Hz) measurements of CO_2 concentration were made using an

Ultraportable Greenhouse Gas Analyser (UGGA; Los Gatos Research) and converted to CO_2 flux using the ideal gas law. The collars included the two main vegetation communities in the peatland: wetter hollows dominated by *Sphagnum* and *Rynchospora alba*, and drier hummocks dominated by vascular plants (*Eriophorum vaginatum, Calluna vulgaris* and *Erica tetralix*). The measured ER and surface temperature data were used to fit an empirical ER model (Heskel et al., 2016), which was compared to model fits based on air and soil temperature data. We assessed the effects of three factors on modelled ER (ER_{mod}): vegetation community, temperature metric and the 2018 hot drought (simultaneous abnormally hot and dry conditions). ER_{mod} based on surface temperature (ER_{mod_surf}) was then upscaled to a larger area of the peatland using a land cover classification and thermal images collected during UAV flights. The thermal cameras used were a Vue Pro 640 and Vue Pro 640 R (FLIR Systems, Inc.), the latter with a ThermalCapture Calibrator (TeAx Technology GmbH) on two quadcopters: Explorian 8 (Pitchup AB) and Solo (3DR).



Figure 3. Locations of the sites used in each of the papers.



Figure 4. (a) Tower with thermal camera and author conducting ER chamber measurements (Photo: Jonas Nilsson), (b) RGB image showing the square collars (black = hummock, white = hollow) in the field of view of the thermal camera, and (c) thermal camera image, grey dashed line shows the extent of (b) and filled black square shows a temperature calibration plate used to correct the thermal images. Both (b) and (c) were taken at 11:30am on 29 August 2018 and are adapted from Paper II.

Paper III

The aim of Paper III was to model peatland CO_2 fluxes (NEE, GPP and ER) using satellite remote sensing data. EC data from five Nordic peatlands (see Figure 3) between 2017 and 2019 were used to fit the empirical flux models. The flux models were first parameterized for each site individually and then a single parameter set was generated using leave-one-out-cross-validation based on the data from all the sites. As a result, we could evaluate how well a simple model and single parameter set were able to predict the fluxes and capture spatial differences between the sites.

We used data from Sentinel-2 (10-20 m spatial resolution, 2-3 day temporal resolution) and MODIS (Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer; 1 km spatial resolution, daily temporal resolution). The Sentinel-2 data was used to calculate EVI2 (enhanced vegetation index; Jiang et al., 2008) and NDWI (normalized difference water index; Gao, 1996), whilst the MODIS products MOD11A1 and MYD11A1 provided LST data. The remote sensing data was gap-filled and smoothed using TIMESAT (Jönsson and

Eklundh, 2004) to produce daily time series for each of the sites. The EC data was also smoothed using TIMESAT with the same settings as for the LST data. One MODIS pixel (where the tower and peak of the footprint function were located) was used to represent each site. For the Sentinel-2 data, we calculated weighted averages of the pixels that contributed to 80% of the daily EC flux footprint, which was modelled using the Flux Footprint Prediction (FFP) model (Kljun et al., 2015).

The GPP model was based on work by Schubert et al. (2010) and included EVI2, a water scalar based on NDWI and daytime LST. The ER model was based on work by Gao et al. (2015), who added a fraction of GPP to the Lloyd and Taylor (1994) equation, but in our final ER model, EVI2 was used instead of GPP. We also tested whether using EVI2 and NDWI scalars, as well as modelling the dormant and growing season separately, improved the ER model fit. We tested modelling NEE by subtracting modelled ER from modelled GPP and by parameterizing the ER and GPP models together.

Paper IV

The aim of the paper was to assess the effect of wildfire on soil respiration, CH₄ fluxes, microclimate and nutrient availability. Specifically, we wanted to test whether significant differences in any of these four properties occurred as a result of differences in burn severity, salvage-logging (versus leaving the burnt trees standing) and stand maturity at the time of the fire. Data were collected from five Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) forests burned by the 2018 Ljusdal fire in central Sweden, the largest area burned that year (8995 ha; see Figure 3 and Figure 5). To analyse the effects of burn severity, we compared an unburnt mature site (UM), a low severity burn mature site (LM, almost 100% tree survival) and a high severity burn mature site (HM, 100% tree mortality). To analyse the effects of salvage-logging, we compared the HM site (unlogged) to a salvage-logged high severity burn mature site (SHM). To analyse the effects of stand maturity, we compared the HM site (~100 years old) with a high severity burn young site (HY; 10 years old).

At each site, flux data were derived from manual dark chamber measurements (using an UGGA, Los Gatos Research) at 10 collars during June to September 2019, the first growing season after the fire. Soil temperature and water content were measured at the same time. In May 2019, 20 soil samples (turned into 4 composite samples) were collected at each site to provide information on the soil chemistry including pH and carbon, nitrogen, ammonium (NH₄⁺), nitrate (NO₃⁻) and phosphorus (P) content. We used linear mixed effects models to test whether there were significant differences in the soil CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes between the sites.





Unburnt Mature (UM)

Salvage-logged High severity Mature (SHM)

High severity Young (HY)

Figure 5. Adapted from Paper IV, photos of the five sites used in Paper IV to study the effects of the Ljusdal fire.

Results and discussion

Best practices for using thermal cameras

In Paper I, the performance of a miniaturized, low-cost UAV thermal camera was tested in the laboratory and in the field. Our results showed good accuracy (±0.5 °C) under stable laboratory conditions. However, measured surface temperature increased by more than 2 °C min⁻¹ when the camera was exposed to wind in the laboratory experiments and during the UAV flights. We also found large temperature variations across individual frames (up to 2.6 °C difference between the centre and the edge of the frame, an effect known as 'vignetting') and during the first 15 minutes after switching on the camera. We estimated that the accuracy of the camera during UAV flight was approximately ±5 °C when compared with measurements from a towermounted thermal camera, although due to the temperature drift we observed, this was likely a best-case estimate.

Our observations are emblematic of the challenges to using thermal cameras in the field. The sensors of these uncooled microbolometer cameras are sensitive to changes in their own temperature and that of the camera (Budzier and Gerlach, 2015). Our results showed that the automated corrections made by the camera to minimize these issues were not sufficient to cope with the rapid changes in camera temperature during UAV flight. Future work seeking to use thermal cameras should therefore carefully consider whether a) spatial temperature data is vital to answering the research question and b) if the need to collect such data outweighs the potentially significant time and effort required to conduct additional corrections and post-processing.

Developing best practices, corrections or calibration procedures for field-based thermal camera measurements is therefore key to ensuring that these cameras can be used effectively in scientific research. Methods for UAV data collection and processing have been reviewed in Aasen et al. (2018) and Assmann et al. (2019) but they focused primarily on multispectral imagery. In Paper I, we contributed by distilling the results of our experiments and previous literature into a set of practical steps for robust data collection focusing specifically on thermal UAV cameras (see Figure 6). There are many applications of UAV thermal cameras that will benefit from these best practices.

Examples include assessments of crop water stress in precision agriculture, the detection of buried archaeological structures, and ecological studies monitoring the effects of microclimate on fauna and flora (Casas-Mulet et al., 2020; Messina and Modica, 2020; Walker, 2020).

By combining these best practices for data collection, with work by, for example, Faye et al. (2016) and Senior et al. (2019) to produce workflows and standardized data processing routines, thermal data will become more reliable and large-scale thermal data collection will become more feasible. For example, establishing a network of thermal cameras similar to the PhenoCam and other spectral networks, would open up numerous opportunities for investigating microclimate, phenology, plant physiology, the surface energy balance, carbon and water fluxes in high spatial and temporal resolution (Still et al., 2019).



Figure 6. Reproduced from Paper I, best practices for using UAV thermal cameras. Numbers in square brackets are references, please see Paper I for details.

Modelling ER with thermal camera data: opportunities and challenges

In Paper II, we tested the feasibility of using data from thermal cameras on towers and UAVs to model and upscale ER. When compared to models derived using air or soil temperature, surface-temperature modelled ER (ER_{mod_surf}) had similar accuracies: mean $R^2 = 0.55$, 0.44 and 0.54, and mean normalized root mean square error = 46%, 52% and 47% (NRMSE, normalized using mean observed ER) for air, soil and surface temperature derived ER_{mod} , respectively. Our findings support the use of thermal data for modelling and upscaling ER. In Paper III, we also tested ER models based only on satellite LST data across several Nordic peatland sites that produced R^2 between 0.69-0.86, depending on the site and model used. Although it is a simple approach, our results confirm that good fits can be achieved using surface temperature alone when

modelling ER from a single peatland site because temperature is one of the main drivers of the temporal variation in peatland ER (Sonnentag et al., 2010).

We demonstrated the capabilities of thermal data for upscaling ER by producing high resolution (pixel size <7 cm) UAV-derived maps of ER_{mod_surf} in Paper II. These maps represent a powerful new resource to assess how ER varies across an ecosystem and a similar upscaling approach could be applied to map other carbon fluxes or evapotranspiration (cf. Wang et al., 2019). Such maps can help assess how variations in measured fluxes correspond to variations in their driving variables, locate hotspots of carbon emission and show whether existing flux measurements are representative of the ecosystem as a whole. Ultimately, the high temporal resolution data from the towermounted thermal camera could be used to gap-fill data between UAV flights, to enable the production of detailed ER maps at any point in time.

To proceed further, the upscaled ER_{mod_surf} maps need to be validated using flux tower data (accounting for the flux tower footprint) and/or chamber measurements. The upscaling method could also be further developed. An analysis of the ER maps showed that not accounting for the differences in ER between hollows and hummocks and their spatial distribution led to over- or underestimates of the mean ER_{mod suff} by up to 18%. Clearly, using separate ER models and high resolution land cover classifications to account for the different vegetation communities present in peatlands is key to accurate upscaling. However, our binary classification did not reflect the gradient of microtopographical locations and associated vegetation communities within a peatland which may introduce biases into the upscaled flux estimations (Korrensalo et al., 2019; Moore et al., 2019; Waddington and Roulet, 2000). Future ER modelling and upscaling approaches may benefit from accounting for the variability in factors such as leaf area index or water table level within each vegetation class and across an ecosystem using, for example, a Bayesian hierarchical modelling approach (Levy et al., 2020). In addition, our approach did not account for the R_a from the trees scattered across the peatland. In order to extend the upscaling approach to forest ecosystems or treed peatlands, the surface temperatures of the soil, understory and tree canopy would need to be measured separately.

Papers I-III highlighted two challenges to using thermal data to model ER. The first concerns the relatively high uncertainty of thermal data (from field-based cameras) compared to air or soil temperature measurements, which is propagated to estimates of ER_{mod_surf} . The impact of this challenge is at least partially mitigated by the lower temperature-sensitivity of ER_{mod_surf} compared to ER modelled with air or soil temperature. Furthermore, when we tested the impacts of the uncertainties in the thermal camera measurements on estimates of modelled ER in Paper II, we found that the magnitude and direction of the error in ER depended on the shape of the ER model

and mean temperatures being measured. It is therefore challenging to draw broader conclusions about how these uncertainties affect the use of thermal camera data, as the magnitude of the errors will be case specific. In any case, users will benefit from technological developments of these cameras which improve their accuracy specifications.

The second challenge concerns whether it is appropriate to use surface temperature to model ER from a biophysical perspective. In Paper II, we found that during the peak of the hot drought in 2018, mean monthly surface temperatures reached almost 41 °C and became uncoupled from the underlying peat temperatures. In Paper III, models based only on LST often predicted a seasonal pattern of ER that was shifted in time (too early) compared to the EC data because LST started increasing earlier than ER in the spring. Furthermore, all the ER models we tested failed to capture winter ER fluxes, when R_h may continue but LST is coolest, which can contribute significantly to annual peatland NEE (Aurela et al., 2002). At a daily time scale, Paper II showed that surface temperature is coolest at night and thus would be unable to capture the midnight ER peak which has been observed in a northern Swedish peatland and corresponds to the nighttime peak in peat temperature (Järveoja et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, temperature is an important variable needed for predicting ER and thermally-derived surface temperature is the only way it can be measured using remote sensing. An advantage of using LST data in remote sensing carbon flux models is that it can help capture temporal variations in the fluxes at a higher resolution (weekly to daily scale) than commonly used vegetation indices which vary at the seasonal scale. Abiotic variables such as LST are particularly important for capturing variations in peatland carbon fluxes during the peak of the growing season, when vegetation and phenology indices remain constant (Peichl et al., 2015). To address the limitations raised above, surface temperature could be used as an input to a peat or air temperature model, separate ER models or parameterizations could be developed for different parts of the year or day, or additional variables could be added to ER models that help capture the temporal variation in ER and its temperature sensitivity.

Modelling ER: moving beyond temperature

Apart from temperature, water table depth also plays an important role in influencing the temporal and spatial variability of peatland ER. In Paper II, ER increased as water table depth declined, particularly for hollows (mean $R^2 = 0.74$ and 0.41 for hollows and hummocks, respectively). However, the 2018 hot drought led to declines in the ER of both communities compared to 2019 when weather conditions were closer to

the long-term average. In Paper III, precipitation and water table depth explained some of the variability in cumulative and peak ER among the sites (R² between 0.25-0.33). Future work could therefore focus on integrating soil moisture or water table depth into ER modelling and upscaling. ER models that include soil moisture availability already exist (Reichstein and Beer, 2008). The question remains as to whether these models can be successfully applied using only remote sensing estimates of soil moisture, which would thus make it possible to use them to upscale ER. Another open question is whether remote sensing estimates of soil moisture work in peatlands.

In Paper III, we integrated water availability by following an approach used to model GPP with remote sensing data: multiplying an ER model by a water scalar based on the maximum growing season NDWI (Gao, 1996). The NDWI is related to vegetation water content and has been shown to relate to peatland water table (Kalacska et al., 2018; Meingast et al., 2014). However, using the water scalar had very little impact on the modelling results, which is likely due to the fact that the NDWI and water scalar showed a weak relationship with precipitation and water table depth across the sites (R² between 0.06-0.18).

Previous work has had mixed results estimating peatland water table depth or peat water content using satellite remote sensing data (Burdun et al., 2020; Meingast et al., 2014). In field trials, the simple ratio water index and shortwave infrared water stress index, have shown promising results and should be tested using MODIS data at the ecosystem level to see if they could further improve the ER modelling approach in Paper III (Meingast et al., 2014). Narrow-band indices based on hyperspectral data, as well as synthetic aperture radar (SAR) data have also shown strong correlations to Sphagnum water content and water table depth, respectively (Harris and Bryant, 2009; Kasischke et al., 2009). Approaches which use data from hand-held spectrometers, UAV or airborne data to estimate peatland vegetation water content or water table depth appear to work well (Harris and Bryant, 2009; Rahman et al., 2017). This is in part because higher spatial resolution data can directly target patches of Sphagnum (an indicator species for peat moisture content) or open water (to derive water table depth). Extending the ER modelling approach in Paper II to use UAV-derived estimates of water availability could therefore be a promising avenue for improving estimates of upscaled ER.

In Paper III, we included EVI2 as a proxy for vegetation productivity in the ER model, which improved the model's ability to capture the magnitude and timing of peak growing season ER compared to using temperature alone. There are many studies showing a link between ER and productivity or phenology, including in peatlands (Davidson and Janssens, 2006; Peichl et al., 2015). R_a is dependent on the supply of products from photosynthesis, and has been shown to be the dominant contributor to,

and driver of the temporal variation in, peatland ER (Järveoja et al., 2018). R_h is also linked to vegetation productivity because plant litter and root exudates provide the substrates needed for decomposition (Crow and Wieder, 2005). Our work demonstrated that using EVI2 to model ER was just as effective, whilst also minimizing the propagation of uncertainty and model complexity, compared to using modelled GPP as an input.

The mean R² and NRMSE of the final ER model in Paper III, using a single parameter set for all sites, were 0.57 and 15%, respectively, whilst site-based parameter sets produced a mean R² and NRMSE of 0.86 and 9% (RMSE was normalized using the range of the observed ER). Our site-based model parameterizations produced the same accuracy as those of Schubert et al. (2010), who used MODIS LST data to model Swedish peatland ER, although we used higher temporal resolution data (daily compared to 16-day composites) and more sites (five compared to two). Our results confirm that simple, purely remote-sensing based models can capture a large proportion of the temporal variability of northern peatland ER, even using a single parameterization across multiple sites.

However, when we applied a single model parameterization to all five peatland sites, we found that the model predicted similar maximum ER at all the sites despite considerable differences in the EC-derived ER fluxes. Differences in maximum ER between the sites were only weakly related to variables that have already been discussed above: temperature, moisture availability and light availability (the latter was likely important due to its effects on vegetation productivity). Kross et al. (2013) noted that peatland nutrient status and vegetation composition can also impact the relationship between remote sensing vegetation indices and EC-derived GPP fluxes. Similarly, our results suggest that peatland type is an important variable that should be considered in future modelling approaches because the ER model accuracy (when using a single model parameterization for all the sites) was considerably lower at Abisko-Stordalen, the only ombrotrophic bog in our study, compared to all the other sites which were fens. EVI2 is not a biophysically-based index; in other words, it captures a composite of many factors that affect plant greenness (e.g. leaf area index, productivity, species). Finding spectral variables which are more closely related to specific vegetation characteristics (e.g. species, biomass) as well as peatland hydrology may help distinguish between peatland types and better capture the influence of vegetation composition on peatland CO₂ fluxes.

The effects of drought on peatland ER

In Paper II, we conducted chamber measurements of peatland hummock and hollow ER during the growing seasons of 2018 (a hot drought) and 2019 (climate conditions closer to the long-term average). Mean growing season hummock ER was almost 50% lower, and hollow ER 15% lower, in 2018 compared to 2019. In both years, there was a significant difference in mean ER between the hummocks and hollows. These results are significant because they are based on direct measurements of ER in situ and capture the response of the peatland to a real extreme event (as opposed to an experimentally simulated drought). They suggest that we cannot assume the existence of a positive feedback loop between drought, high air temperatures and increased decomposition in peatlands. These results also highlight that peatland carbon loss during droughts and heatwaves is strongly linked to vegetation composition.

Nevertheless, to fully evaluate the impact of the 2018 drought on peatland CO_2 exchange, the response of GPP and, in particular, NEE must be considered. In Paper III, we presented EC data from the same peatland (Mycklemossen) as well as from Degerö, Siikaneva, and Lompolojänkkä, all of which are featured in the Rinne et al. (2020) analysis of the impact of the 2018 drought on Nordic peatlands. They concluded that summer NEE at Mycklemossen, Degerö and Siikaneva had been reduced (i.e. less C uptake) due to the drought, but that it had no impact on the water table or carbon fluxes at Lompolojänkkä. Indeed, the annual cumulative NEE sums in Paper III showed that those three sites became CO₂ sources in 2018, whilst Lompolojänkkä and Abisko-Stordalen remained CO₂ sinks. If the mean GPP and ER are calculated for June-September (the same period measured in Paper II), GPP is lower in 2018 than in 2017 at all three sites whilst ER is lower at Degerö and Mycklemossen but higher at Siikaneva in 2018 compared to 2017. These results suggest that declines in GPP may be more important than changes in ER for determining the response of peatland NEE to drought, which is supported by observations from Peichl et al. (2014) and Sonnentag et al. (2010).

Warmer temperatures and increased oxygen availability during drought have often (but not consistently) been found to increase peatland ER (Dorrepaal et al., 2009; Fenner and Freeman, 2011; Laiho, 2006). It is therefore interesting that the ER data presented in Papers II and III was not consistently higher in 2018 than in the surrounding years. However, both R_a and R_h decline under water stress and there is evidence that extreme and prolonged drought may decrease peatland ER. The varied response of ER at the three sites to the 2018 hot drought is likely a result of differences in the magnitude of the water table drawdown (Peichl et al., 2014) and vegetation composition (Jassey et al., 2018). At Mycklemossen, our observations of reduced ER in 2018 compared to 2019 in Paper II were attributed to the intensity and long duration of the hot drought (Strack et al., 2009). As a result, any labile C exposed by the lowered water table may have been used up at the beginning of the drought, thus slowing R_h rates during the rest of the summer (Laiho, 2006). The declines in GPP modelled from the EC data also lend support to our theory that the priming effect of vegetation on R_h would have been reduced as plant productivity declined during the drought. Since the hummocks had more plant biomass than the hollows, declines in R_a and R_h linked to reduced plant photosynthesis would have had more impact on hummock ER than hollow ER. The water table is also generally lower in hummocks than in hollows, and thus further lowering of the water table during the drought may have had less impact (in terms of exposing organic matter for decomposition) on hummock ER compared to hollow ER. These differences between the two vegetation comunities may explain why ER was lower in hummocks than in hollows during the 2018 hot drought.

The effects of wildfire on forest soil carbon fluxes

The extremely warm and dry conditions during summer 2018 led to a severe wildfire season in Sweden: the total area burned in 2018 (25000 ha) was approximately 10 larger than the annual average during the early 2000s (SOU, 2019). Paper IV examined the impact of the Ljusdal fire on forest soils, focusing specifically on the effects of burn severity, salvage-logging and stand age.

None of these factors had a significant impact on soil CH_4 uptake, except burn severity, which led to significantly different CH_4 uptake between a high and low severity burn though not compared to an unburnt site (Figure 7d-f). Soil moisture, one of the most important factors affecting CH_4 uptake in soils, was generally unaffected by burning, as was the mineral soil layer where most CH_4 uptake takes place. It is therefore unsurprising that the CH_4 fluxes were similar among the five sites.



Figure 7. Reproduced from Paper IV, the observed soil respiration and CH_4 fluxes at the five sites grouped according to the factor of interest (burn severity, salvage-logging or stand maturity). Significant letters above/below the boxplots indicate significant differences in the fluxes between the sites based on an Analysis of Variance and Tukey's post-hoc tests. The boxplots show the median, interquartile range and maximum and minimum data values, with the star representing the mean. Site acronyms: High severity Mature (HM), Low severity Mature (LM), Unburnt Mature (UM), Salvage-logged High severity Mature (SHM), High severity Young (HY).

A high severity burn led to significantly lower soil respiration compared to a low severity burn and unburnt site (Figure 7a). This was likely due to the shutdown of R_a (complete tree and ground vegetation mortality) and a decline in R_h, as a result of the combustion of the soil organic layer and the cessation of the supply of root exudates from the trees. Yet despite an estimated 75% loss of the organic layer at the low burn severity site, soil respiration was similar at this site compared to the unburnt site. Our results thus suggest that tree root respiration is one of the main drivers of post-fire soil respiration in mature stands, which agrees with findings by Singh et al. (2008) who observed that root biomass was positively correlated with soil respiration after Canadian forest fires. Furthermore, we speculated that at the low burn severity site, tree fine root growth and R_h may have increased in the months after the fire (which occurred in the middle of the growing season) as a result of the increased nutrient availability (bioavailable P, NO_3^- and effective cation exchange capacity) and soil pH (Bryanin and Makoto, 2017; Maynard et al., 2014; Yuan and Chen, 2010). The increased fine root turnover and R_h may thus have compensated for any initial R_h reductions due to the consumption of the organic layer.

After a high severity burn, salvage-logging had no significant impact on soil respiration, microclimate and soil chemistry, compared to leaving the dead trees standing (Figure

7b). The soil conditions at the salvage-logged and unlogged sites were similar, i.e. there was only a small amount of woody debris on the ground and no soil compaction due to the salvage-logging operation near our collars at the salvage-logged site, which helps explain why we found no substantial differences in the soil CO_2 fluxes between the two sites. However, the interaction of salvage-logging and burn severity deserves further study. It is likely that salvage-logging after a low severity burn (where the trees survive) would cause a significant decline in soil respiration due to the shutdown of autotrophic respiration, and even greater changes to the total ecosystem CO_2 fluxes. The differences in the carbon exchange and nutrient availability between the salvage-logged and unlogged sites are likely to become more important in the long-term (discussed further in the next section).

Stand age at the time of the fire had a clear impact on post-fire soil conditions. The young site stood out from the mature site (HM) in terms of microclimate (warmer and drier soils), its lower soil respiration and nutrient concentrations and thinner organic layer depth (Figure 7c). Soil respiration was also significantly less temperature-sensitive at the young site than at the mature site, suggesting that it was substrate-limited due to the lack of available organic matter and labile C. Soil respiration would likely have been lower at the young site than at the mature site even before the fire, because of the thinner organic layer and smaller tree root biomass, but the fire would have exacerbated the differences between the two sites. The reduced soil nutrient availability at the young site compared to the mature site may also be the result of the clearcutting and soil scarification which occurred at the young site 12 years before the fire (Örlander et al., 1996; Thiffault et al., 2007).

Ultimately, our observations at the young site indicate that the time available for the accumulation of the soil organic layer between disturbances is an important variable for determining the effects of a disturbance on forest soils. These results confirm that shorter return intervals between disturbances are likely to impede the ability of forests to retain soil nutrients and act as long-term carbon stores. These findings have important implications given predictions that the frequency of wildfires will increase across many parts of the boreal region (De Groot et al., 2013).

Environmental science perspective

Response of boreal peatland CO₂ fluxes to climate change

Climate change is one of the greatest societal challenges of the 21st century. Predicting how ecosystems will respond is crucial for understanding the magnitude and direction of feedbacks between the biosphere and the climate. The results of Paper II suggest that, in some cases, ER declines at high temperatures and that ecosystems may lose less carbon than expected during extreme heat and drought events. We also found evidence of a negative feedback mechanism described by Kettridge and Waddington (2014), whereby desiccated Sphagnum acts as an insulating barrier, minimizing water loss during drought, which demonstrates the resilience of peatlands to water table drawdown. Nevertheless, these results must be considered alongside those of Paper III, which showed that the three peatlands that were affected by the 2018 drought were net carbon sources that year due to reductions in GPP and/or increases in ER. Increases in the frequency or longevity of summer droughts could therefore still lead to a net increase in CO_2 emissions from peatlands and a positive feedback to climate change. Ultimately, predicting the future CO₂ balance of peatlands depends not only on being able to model how they behave during short-term extreme events, but on understanding how they will respond to long-term trends of rising temperatures and changing precipitation regimes. Predicting the full carbon balance of peatlands will also require combining the models developed in Paper III with models that estimate CH4 fluxes and aquatic carbon exports.

Value of modelling boreal peatland CO₂ fluxes

Robust measurements or models of carbon fluxes are a crucial step towards predicting how ecosystems will respond to future environmental change. The global network of flux towers is especially important because flux towers provide our primary source of direct measurements of ecosystem greenhouse gas fluxes (Running et al., 1999). The upscaling method piloted in Paper II provides a tool to analyse these measurements, assess how carbon fluxes vary across an ecosystem and evaluate whether flux tower data is representative of the surrounding ecosystem. In addition, the models developed in Paper III, which were parameterized using flux tower data, could provide a foundation for estimating the CO_2 fluxes of intact peatlands across the whole Nordic region. Such estimates provide a valuable data source against which the results of more complex mechanistic models can be compared and could inform policymaking related to the sustainable management and conservation of peatlands.

Impacts of management on boreal peatland CO2 fluxes

It is important to acknowledge that boreal forests and peatlands contribute many services to humankind beyond carbon storage, including water regulation, supporting biodiversity, providing raw materials as well as non-material contributions that enhance people's quality of life. Nevertheless, focusing on their significance as carbon stores, is particularly relevant in light of current debates about how ecosystems could be sustainably managed to retain or increase their carbon storage potential.

There are many natural limitations on the amount of carbon that ecosystems can store (see e.g. Baldocchi and Penuelas, 2019), and certain management practices can place further constraints on carbon storage or lead to significant carbon losses. For example, in the Nordic and Baltic regions, nearly half of all peatlands have been drained, and the CO_2 emissions from these drained areas are equivalent to a third of all other CO_2 emissions from these countries (excluding from land use; Barthelmes et al., 2015). Typically, peatland drainage for agricultural, forestry or peat extraction stops the accumulation and promotes the decomposition of organic matter, thus decreasing the amount of carbon stored. Although this thesis only studied intact peatlands, the impacts of the 2018 drought captured in Paper III illustrated the short-term effects of peatland drainage on CO_2 fluxes: rapid conversion from being carbon sinks to sources.

Rewetting drained peatlands is a management strategy which can turn degraded peatlands into CO₂ sinks by reducing decomposition (although increasing their CH₄ emissions; Wilson et al., 2016). Within Sweden, rewetting is advocated as part of the government's first climate policy action plan to meet national and international climate change mitigation goals (Miljödepartementet, 2019). On a global scale, Leifeld and Menichetti (2018) demonstrated that restoring degraded peatlands is a more effective management strategy, in terms of the amount of carbon stored per unit land area and the additional nutrient inputs needed, than strategies focused on increasing the carbon storage potential of mineral agricultural soils. Deciding which peat areas to rewet requires careful consideration. For example, drained boreal peatlands used for forestry can continue to act as carbon sinks even several decades after drainage and during drought periods, so rewetting them may have limited benefits (Minkkinen et al., 2018). The CO₂ flux models and upscaling approaches developed in Papers II and III, if parameterized using fluxes from rewetted peatlands, could provide useful tools to evaluate the carbon sink strength of these areas. Such an application emphasizes the need to further develop the models to include water table depth or soil moisture data, since this is the main environmental condition being manipulated during peatland rewetting.

Impacts of management on boreal forest carbon fluxes

Predicted increases in forest fire frequency make it especially important to assess how management decisions affect the recovery of forests after fire. Paper IV focused specifically on the effects of salvage-logging, a common practice after many forest disturbances (e.g. fire, wind throw, insect outbreaks). The differences in soil conditions between a salvage-logged and non-logged site were not significant in the first growing season after the fire, but are likely to become significant over the long-term. Salvagelogging removes burnt wood, which provides an important source of nutrients that outlasts the short-lived ash nutrient pulse but also leads to increased CO2 emissions as it decomposes over many years following a fire (Amiro et al., 2006; Marañón-Jiménez et al., 2013). The alterations to site microclimate following salvage-logging can also impact vegetation establishment, which influences the rate of carbon uptake and is important for commercial forestry production. Maximum soil temperature was 4 °C higher and there was a larger soil temperature range at the salvage-logged compared to the unlogged site. In the temperature-limited boreal region, increases in soil temperature may favour seedling growth, although the few existing studies of salvagelogging effects on microclimate (beyond the boreal region) suggest that the harsher microclimate is detrimental to seedling growth (Leverkus et al., 2021).

Ultimately, the decision over whether to replant a commercial forestry monoculture (as occurred in 2020 for the salvage-logged site) versus allowing natural regeneration to occur (as is the case at the unlogged high burn and low burn severity sites which are now part of a nature reserve) after fire may have a stronger impact on the ecosystem carbon balance than the act of salvage-logging. Three years after a major Swedish forest fire, Gustafsson et al. (2019) found that a replanted site was moving towards net CO₂ uptake faster than a natural regeneration site. The evidence from this fire and fires in Alaska shows an interaction between burn severity, microclimate and tree establishment: deciduous broadleaf trees tend to establish in high burn severity areas where the remaining soil organic layer is very thin, whereas coniferous species tend to establish in moister sites burned at lower severity (Johnstone et al., 2010). It is thus feasible that the high severity burn mature site will be colonized by broadleaf species, a stark contrast to the pine monoculture that was planted at the salvage-logged site. These changes in the vegetation composition could lead to significant differences between the two sites in terms of their CO₂ fluxes, surface energy balance, biodiversity and soil nutrient availability (Gaumont-Guay et al., 2009; Johnstone et al., 2010). Paper IV established a baseline against which such future changes at the sites can be evaluated, and the ongoing data collection at the sites will provide a long-term perspective of the implications of the management decisions taken immediately after the Ljusdal fire.

Conclusions

Studying ecosystem carbon fluxes is a vital part of environmental science because it can help assess the impacts of climate change on terrestrial ecosystems, quantify ecosystematmosphere feedbacks and support decision-making for sustainable management. This doctoral thesis has contributed to environmental science in two ways: by developing and refining methods to upscale peatland ecosystem respiration (ER) and by consolidating our understanding of the factors driving carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems.

In terms of methodology, this thesis has demonstrated how the spatial temperature data from miniaturized thermal cameras can be used to map peatland ER at sub-decimetre resolution. Such maps provide a novel resource to estimate ER at the ecosystem scale and to evaluate the representativeness of our current carbon flux measurements. The robustness of this approach is dependent, among other things, on minimizing the uncertainties associated with thermal camera data, and the best practices suggested in this thesis contribute towards achieving this goal.

This thesis has also shown that estimating peatland ER over larger areas at daily resolution with satellite remote sensing data is possible using a simple model driven by land surface temperature and EVI2. The accuracy of these estimates is greatest when growing season ER fluxes are estimated using a model parameterized for a single peatland site. Finding variables or model formulations that can capture the differences in peak growing season ER across multiple peatlands is the main challenge to making accurate regional estimates of ER. Future work should focus on including information on vegetation composition and water table depth in ER models, because these factors play an important role in driving the spatial variability of ER, both within and between peatlands. Not accounting for this spatial heterogeneity can lead to significant biases in upscaled estimates of ER and mask important information about how peatlands respond to natural disturbances.

The 2018 drought provided a natural experiment for studying the effects of combined high air temperatures and reduced water availability on boreal ecosystem carbon fluxes. Although the drought turned many Nordic peatlands from CO_2 sinks to sources, the positive feedback loop between higher temperatures, lower water table and increased

 $\rm CO_2$ emissions may not be as strong as expected during extended periods of severe water stress. The impact of drought was also dependent on vegetation composition, emphasizing the importance of accounting for this source of spatial heterogeneity when modelling peatland $\rm CO_2$ exchange.

The drought led to an exceptional number of forest fires in Sweden during the summer of 2018. Analysing the forest soils affected by the Ljusdal fire provided important insights into the roles of burn severity, salvage-logging and stand age in determining post-fire soil carbon fluxes. Salvage-logging a mature stand had no additional effects on forest soils after a high severity burn but long-term monitoring is needed to fully assess the implications of this management practice on the ecosystem carbon balance. The Ljusdal fire investigation highlighted that the forests most vulnerable to soil carbon and nutrient losses after fire are young stands burned at high severity that have been affected by multiple disturbances within a few years.

The results presented here confirm that the predicted increase in the frequency of drought, wildfire and other stand replacing disturbances threatens the long-term carbon storage capacity of boreal ecosystems. Reliable models and upscaled estimates of carbon exchange are therefore essential to help track the changes in the boreal carbon sink and inform sustainable management strategies.

References

- Aasen, H., Honkavaara, E., Lucieer, A., Zarco-Tejada, P.J., 2018. Quantitative remote sensing at ultra-high resolution with UAV spectroscopy: A review of sensor technology, measurement procedures, and data correction work flows. Remote Sens. 10, 1–42. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10071091
- Ai, J., Jia, G., Epstein, H.E., Wang, H., Zhang, A., Hu, Y., 2018. MODIS-Based Estimates of Global Terrestrial Ecosystem Respiration. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 123, 326–352. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017jg004107
- Allison, S.D., McGuire, K.L., Treseder, K.K., 2010. Resistance of microbial and soil properties to warming treatment seven years after boreal fire. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 1872–1878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.07.011
- Amiro, B.D., Barr, A.G., Black, T.A., Iwashita, H., Kljun, N., McCaughey, J.H., Morgenstern, K., Murayama, S., Nesic, Z., Orchansky, A.L., Saigusa, N., 2006. Carbon, energy and water fluxes at mature and disturbed forest sites, Saskatchewan, Canada. Agric. For. Meteorol. 136, 237–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2004.11.012
- Arrhenius, S., 1889. Über die Reaktionsgeschwindigkeit bei der Inversion von Rohrzucker durch Säuren. Zeitschrift für Phys. Chemie 4, 226–248.
- Assmann, J.J., Kerby, J.T., Cunliffe, A.M., Myers-Smith, I.H., 2019. Vegetation monitoring using multispectral sensors — best practices and lessons learned from high latitudes. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 7, 54–75. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2018-0018
- Aubrecht, D.M., Helliker, B.R., Goulden, M.L., Roberts, D.A., Still, C.J., Richardson, A.D., 2016. Continuous, long-term, high-frequency thermal imaging of vegetation: Uncertainties and recommended best practices. Agric. For. Meteorol. 228–229, 315–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.07.017
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.P., 2004. The timing of snow melt controls the annual CO₂ balance in a subarctic fen. Geophys. Res. Lett. 31, 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GL020315
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.P., 2002. Annual CO₂ balance of a subarctic fen in northern Europe: Importance of the wintertime efflux. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 107, 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002055
- Aurela, M., Riutta, T., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.P., Vesala, T., Tuittila, E.S., Rinne, J., Haapanala, S., Laine, J., 2007. CO₂ exchange of a sedge fen in southern Finland - The impact of a drought period. Tellus, Ser. B Chem. Phys. Meteorol. 59, 826–837.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00309.x

- Baldocchi, D., Penuelas, J., 2019. The physics and ecology of mining carbon dioxide from the atmosphere by ecosystems. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25, 1191–1197. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14559
- Baldocchi, D.D., Hincks, B.B., Meyers, T.P., 1988. Measuring Biosphere-Atmosphere Exchanges of Biologically Related Gases with Micrometeorological Methods. Ecology 69, 1331–1340. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941631
- Barthelmes, A., Couwenberg, J., Risager, M., Tegetmeyer, C., Joosten, H., 2015. Peatlands and Climate in a Ramsar context: A Nordic-Baltic Perspective. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen. https://doi.org/10.6027/
- Berni, J.A.J., Zarco-Tejada, P.J., Suarez, L., Fereres, E., 2009. Thermal and Narrowband Multispectral Remote Sensing for Vegetation Monitoring From an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 47, 722–738. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2008.2010457
- Bond-Lamberty, B., Peckham, S.D., Ahl, D.E., Gower, S.T., 2007. Fire as the dominant driver of central Canadian boreal forest carbon balance. Nature 450, 89–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06272
- Bradshaw, C.J.A., Warkentin, I.G., 2015. Global estimates of boreal forest carbon stocks and flux. Glob. Planet. Change 128, 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2015.02.004
- Bryanin, S. V., Makoto, K., 2017. Fire-derived charcoal affects fine root vitality in a post-fire Gmelin larch forest: field evidence. Plant Soil 416, 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3217-x
- Budzier, H., Gerlach, G., 2015. Calibration of uncooled thermal infrared cameras. J. Sensors Sens. Syst. 4, 187–197. https://doi.org/10.5194/jsss-5-9-2016
- Burdun, I., Bechtold, M., Sagris, V., Komisarenko, V., Lannoy, G. De, Mander, Ü., 2020. A comparison of three trapezoid models using optical and thermal satellite imagery for water table depth monitoring in Estonian Bogs. Remote Sens. 12, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121980
- Burke, R.A., Zepp, R.G., Tarr, A., Miller, L., Stocks, J., 1997. Effect of fire on soil-atmosphere exchange of methane boreal fluxes of carbon dioxide in Canadian boreal forest sites. J. Geophys. Res. 102, 289–300. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1029/97JD01331
- Casas-Mulet, R., Pander, J., Ryu, D., Stewardson, M.J., Geist, J., 2020. Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV)-Based Thermal Infra-Red (TIR) and Optical Imagery Reveals Multi-Spatial Scale Controls of Cold-Water Areas Over a Groundwater-Dominated Riverscape. Front. Environ. Sci. 8, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.00064
- Certini, G., 2005. Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: A review. Oecologia 143, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1788-8
- Chasmer, L., Kljun, N., Barr, A., Black, A., Hopkinson, C., McCaughey, H., Treitz, P., 2008. Influences of vegetation structure and elevation on CO₂ uptake in a mature jack pine

forest in Saskatchewan, Canada. Can. J. For. Res. 38, 2746–2761. https://doi.org/10.1139/X08-121

- Chi, J., Nilsson, M.B., Laudon, H., Lindroth, A., Wallerman, J., Fransson, J.E.S., Kljun, N., Lundmark, T., Ottosson Löfvenius, M., Peichl, M., 2020. The Net Landscape Carbon Balance—Integrating terrestrial and aquatic carbon fluxes in a managed boreal forest landscape in Sweden. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 2353–2367. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14983
- Cook, B.I., Mankin, J.S., Marvel, K., Williams, A.P., Smerdon, J.E., Anchukaitis, K.J., 2020. Twenty-First Century Drought Projections in the CMIP6 Forcing Scenarios. Earth's Futur. 8. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001461
- Covey, K.R., Megonigal, J.P., 2019. Methane production and emissions in trees and forests. New Phytol. 222, 35–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15624
- Crow, S.E., Wieder, R.K., 2005. Sources of CO₂ emission from a northern peatland: Root respiration, exudation, and decomposition. Ecology 86, 1825–1834. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1575
- Davidson, E.A., Janssens, I.A., 2006. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440, 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04514
- De Groot, W.J., Flannigan, M.D., Cantin, A.S., 2013. Climate change impacts on future boreal fire regimes. For. Ecol. Manage. 294, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.09.027
- Dooley, S.R., Treseder, K.K., 2012. The effect of fire on microbial biomass: a meta-analysis of field studies. Biogeochemistry 109, 49–61. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9633-8
- Dorrepaal, E., Toet, S., Van Logtestijn, R.S.P., Swart, E., Van De Weg, M.J., Callaghan, T. V., Aerts, R., 2009. Carbon respiration from subsurface peat accelerated by climate warming in the subarctic. Nature 460, 616–619. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08216
- Dunn, A.L., Barford, C.C., Wofsy, S.C., Goulden, M.L., Daube, B.C., 2007. A long-term record of carbon exchange in a boreal black spruce forest: means, responses to interannual variability, and decadal trends. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 577–590. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01221.x
- Eklundh, L., Jin, H., Schubert, P., Guzinski, R., Heliasz, M., 2011. An optical sensor network for vegetation phenology monitoring and satellite data calibration, Sensors. https://doi.org/10.3390/s110807678
- Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Tenhunen, J., Aubinet, M., Bakwin, P., Berbigier, P., Bernhofer, C., Burba, G., Clement, R., Davis, K., Elbers, J., Goldstein, A., Grelle, A., Granier, A., Guomundsson, J., Hollinger, D., Kowalski, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Monson, R., Munger, J., Oechel, W., Paw, K., Pilegaard, K., Rannik, U., Rebmann, C., Suyker, A., Valentini, R., Wilson, K., Wofsy, S., 2002. Seasonality of ecosystem respiration and gross primary production as derived from FLUXNET measurements.

Agric. For. Meteorol. 113, 53-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(02)00102-8

- Faye, E., Rebaudo, F., Yánez-Cajo, D., Cauvy-Fraunié, S., Dangles, O., 2016. A toolbox for studying thermal heterogeneity across spatial scales: From unmanned aerial vehicle imagery to landscape metrics. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12488
- Fenner, N., Freeman, C., 2011. Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands. Nat. Geosci. 4, 895–900. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1323
- Flanagan, L.B., Syed, K.H., 2011. Stimulation of both photosynthesis and respiration in response to warmer and drier conditions in a boreal peatland ecosystem. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2271–2287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02378.x
- Frolking, S., Talbot, J., Jones, M.C., Treat, C.C., Kauffman, J.B., Tuittila, E.-S., Roulet, N., 2011. Peatlands in the Earth's 21st century climate system. Environ. Rev. 19, 371–396. https://doi.org/10.1139/a11-014
- Gamon, J.A., Rahman, A.F., Dungan, J.L., Schildhauer, M., Huemmrich, K.F., 2006. Spectral Network (SpecNet)-What is it and why do we need it? Remote Sens. Environ. 103, 227– 235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.04.003
- Gao, B.-C., 1996. NDWI A Normalized Difference Water Index for Remote Sensing of Vegetation Liquid Water From Space. Remote Sens. Env. 58, 257–266. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00067-3
- Gao, Y., Yu, G., Li, S., Yan, H., Zhu, X., Wang, Q., Shi, P., Zhao, L., Li, Y., Zhang, F., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., 2015. A remote sensing model to estimate ecosystem respiration in Northern China and the Tibetan Plateau. Ecol. Modell. 304, 34–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2015.03.001
- Gaumont-Guay, D., Black, T.A., McCaughey, H., Barr, A.G., Krishnan, P., Jassal, R.S., Nesic, Z., 2009. Soil CO₂ efflux in contrasting boreal deciduous and coniferous stands and its contribution to the ecosystem carbon balance. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 1302–1319. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01830.x
- Gelybó, G., Barcza, Z., Kern, A., Kljun, N., 2013. Effect of spatial heterogeneity on the validation of remote sensing based GPP estimations. Agric. For. Meteorol. 174–175, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.02.003
- Gustafsson, L., Berglind, M., Granström, A., Grelle, A., Isacsson, G., Kjellander, P., Larsson, S., Lindh, M., Pettersson, L.B., Strengbom, J., Stridh, B., Sävström, T., Thor, G., Wikars, L.O., Mikusiński, G., 2019. Rapid ecological response and intensified knowledge accumulation following a north European mega-fire. Scand. J. For. Res. 34, 234–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2019.1603323
- Harris, A., Bryant, R.G., 2009. A multi-scale remote sensing approach for monitoring northern peatland hydrology: Present possibilities and future challenges. J. Environ. Manage. 90, 2178–2188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2007.06.025
- Heskel, M.A., O'Sullivan, O.S., Reich, P.B., Tjoelker, M.G., Weerasinghe, L.K., Penillard, A., Egerton, J.J.G., Creek, D., Bloomfield, K.J., Xiang, J., Sinca, F., Stangl, Z.R., Martinez-

de la Torre, A., Griffin, K.L., Huntingford, C., Hurry, V., Meir, P., Turnbull, M.H., Atkin, O.K., 2016. Convergence in the temperature response of leaf respiration across biomes and plant functional types. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 3832–3837. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1520282113

- Hoffmann, H., Nieto, H., Jensen, R., Guzinski, R., Zarco-Tejada, P., Friborg, T., 2016. Estimating evaporation with thermal UAV data and two-source energy balance models. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 20, 697–713. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-20-697-2016
- IPCC, 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva, Switzerland.
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contributionn of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Jägermeyr, J., Gerten, D., Lucht, W., Hostert, P., Migliavacca, M., Nemani, R., 2014. A highresolution approach to estimating ecosystem respiration at continental scales using operational satellite data. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 1191–1210. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12443
- Järveoja, J., Nilsson, M.B., Crill, P.M., Peichl, M., 2020. Bimodal diel pattern in peatland ecosystem respiration rebuts uniform temperature response. Nat. Commun. 11, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18027-1
- Järveoja, J., Nilsson, M.B., Gažovič, M., Crill, P.M., Peichl, M., 2018. Partitioning of the net CO₂ exchange using an automated chamber system reveals plant phenology as key control of production and respiration fluxes in a boreal peatland. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 3436– 3451. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14292
- Jassey, V.E.J., Reczuga, M.K., Zielińska, M., Słowińska, S., Robroek, B.J.M., Mariotte, P., Seppey, C.V.W., Lara, E., Barabach, J., Słowiński, M., Bragazza, L., Chojnicki, B.H., Lamentowicz, M., Mitchell, E.A.D., Buttler, A., 2018. Tipping point in plant–fungal interactions under severe drought causes abrupt rise in peatland ecosystem respiration. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 972–986. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13928
- Jiang, Z., Huete, A.R., Didan, K., Miura, T., 2008. Development of a two-band enhanced vegetation index without a blue band. Remote Sens. Environ. 112, 3833–3845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.06.006
- Johnstone, J.F., Hollingsworth, T.N., Chapin, F.S., Mack, M.C., 2010. Changes in fire regime break the legacy lock on successional trajectories in Alaskan boreal forest. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 1281–1295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02051.x
- Jones, M.W., Santín, C., van der Werf, G.R., Doerr, S.H., 2019. Global fire emissions buffered by the production of pyrogenic carbon. Nat. Geosci. 12, 742–747. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0403-x
- Jönsson, P., Eklundh, L., 2004. TIMESAT A program for analyzing time-series of satellite sensor data. Comput. Geosci. 30, 833–845.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2004.05.006

- Kalacska, M., Arroyo-Mora, J.P., Soffer, R.J., Roulet, N.T., Moore, T.R., Humphreys, E., Leblanc, G., Lucanus, O., Inamdar, D., 2018. Estimating peatland water table depth and net ecosystem exchange: A comparison between satellite and airborne imagery. Remote Sens. 10, 687. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10050687
- Kasischke, E.S., Bourgeau-Chavez, L.L., Rober, A.R., Wyatt, K.H., Waddington, J.M., Turetsky, M.R., 2009. Effects of soil moisture and water depth on ERS SAR backscatter measurements from an Alaskan wetland complex. Remote Sens. Environ. 113, 1868– 1873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2009.04.006
- Keeley, J.E., 2009. Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: A brief review and suggested usage. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07049
- Keenan, R.J., Reams, G.A., Achard, F., de Freitas, J. V., Grainger, A., Lindquist, E., 2015. Dynamics of global forest area: Results from the FAO Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. For. Ecol. Manage. 352, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.014
- Kettridge, N., Waddington, J.M., 2014. Towards quantifying the negative feedback regulation of peatland evaporation to drought. Hydrol. Process. 28, 3728–3740. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.9898
- Keyser, A.R., Kimball, J.S., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W., 2000. Simulating the effects of climate change on the carbon balance of North American high-latitude forests. Glob. Chang. Biol. 6, 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06020.x
- Kimball, J.S., Jones, L.A., Zhang, K.Z.K., Heinsch, F.A., McDonald, K.C., Oechel, W.C., 2009. A Satellite Approach to Estimate Land-Atmosphere Exchange for Boreal and Arctic Biomes Using MODIS and AMSR-E. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 47, 569–587. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2008.2003248
- Kljun, N., Calanca, P., Rotach, M.W., Schmid, H.P., 2015. A simple two-dimensional parameterisation for Flux Footprint Prediction (FFP). Geosci. Model Dev. 8, 3695–3713. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-8-3695-2015
- Koebsch, F., Sonnentag, O., Järveoja, J., Peltoniemi, M., Alekseychik, P., Aurela, M., Arslan, A.N., Dinsmore, K., Gianelle, D., Helfter, C., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., Korrensalo, A., Leith, F., Linkosalmi, M., Lohila, A., Lund, M., Maddison, M., Mammarella, I., Mander, Ü., Minkkinen, K., Pickard, A., Pullens, J.W.M., Tuittila, E., Nilsson, M.B., Peichl, M., 2020. Refining the role of phenology in regulating gross ecosystem productivity across European peatlands. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 876–887. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14905
- Korrensalo, A., Mehtätalo, L., Alekseychik, P., Uljas, S., Mammarella, I., Vesala, T., Tuittila, E.S., 2019. Varying Vegetation Composition, Respiration and Photosynthesis Decrease Temporal Variability of the CO₂ Sink in a Boreal Bog. Ecosystems. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-019-00434-1
- Köster, E., Köster, K., Berninger, F., Aaltonen, H., Zhou, X., Pumpanen, J., 2017. Carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide fluxes from a fire chronosequence in subarctic boreal

forests of Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 601–602, 895–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.246

- Köster, E., Köster, K., Berninger, F., Prokushkin, A., Aaltonen, H., Zhou, X., Pumpanen, J., 2018. Changes in fluxes of carbon dioxide and methane caused by fire in Siberian boreal forest with continuous permafrost. J. Environ. Manage. 228, 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.09.051
- Kross, A., Seaquist, J.W., Roulet, N.T., Fernandes, R., Sonnentag, O., 2013. Estimating carbon dioxide exchange rates at contrasting northern peatlands using MODIS satellite data. Remote Sens. Environ. 137, 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2013.06.014
- Lafleur, P.M., Moore, T.R., Roulet, N.T., Frolking, S., 2005. Ecosystem respiration in a cool temperate bog depends on peat temperature but not water table. Ecosystems 8, 619–629. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0131-2
- Laiho, R., 2006. Decomposition in peatlands: Reconciling seemingly contrasting results on the impacts of lowered water levels. Soil Biol. Biochem. 38, 2011–2024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.02.017
- Laine, A.M., Mäkiranta, P., Laiho, R., Mehtätalo, L., Penttilä, T., Korrensalo, A., Minkkinen, K., Fritze, H., Tuittila, E., 2019. Warming impacts on boreal fen CO₂ exchange under wet and dry conditions. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25, 1995–2008. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14617
- Landry, J., Matthews, H.D., 2016. Non-deforestation fire vs . fossil fuel combustion: the source of CO₂ emissions affects the global carbon cycle and climate responses 2137–2149. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-2137-2016
- Lasslop, G., Migliavacca, M., Bohrer, G., Reichstein, M., Bahn, M., Ibrom, A., Jacobs, C., Kolari, P., Papale, D., Vesala, T., Wohlfahrt, G., Cescatti, A., 2012. On the choice of the driving temperature for eddy-covariance carbon dioxide flux partitioning. Biogeosciences 9, 5243–5259. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-5243-2012
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A., Arneth, A., Barr, A., Stoy, P., Wohlfahrt, G., 2010. Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: Critical issues and global evaluation. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 187–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x
- Leach, N.J., Li, S., Sparrow, S., van Oldenborgh, G.J., Lott, F.C., Weisheimer, A., Allen, M.R., 2020. Anthropogenic Influence on 2018 Summer Warm Spell in Europe: Impact of Different Spatio-Temporal Scales, in: Herring, S.C., Hoerling, M.P., Peterson, T.C., Stott, P.A. (Eds.), Explaining Extreme Events of 2013 from a Climate Perspective. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, pp. S41–S46. https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-19-0201.1
- Leifeld, J., Menichetti, L., 2018. The underappreciated potential of peatlands in global climate change mitigation strategies. Nat. Commun. 9, 1071. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03406-6

Leonard, R.M., Kettridge, N., Devito, K.J., Petrone, R.M., Mendoza, C.A., Waddington, J.M.,

Krause, S., 2018. Disturbance Impacts on Thermal Hot Spots and Hot Moments at the Peatland-Atmosphere Interface. Geophys. Res. Lett. 45, 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL075974

- Leverkus, A.B., Buma, B., Wagenbrenner, J., Burton, P.J., Lingua, E., Marzano, R., Thorn, S., 2021. Tamm review: Does salvage logging mitigate subsequent forest disturbances? For. Ecol. Manage. 481, 118721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118721
- Levy, P., Drewer, J., Jammet, M., Leeson, S., Friborg, T., Skiba, U., Oijen, M. van, 2020. Inference of spatial heterogeneity in surface fluxes from eddy covariance data: A case study from a subarctic mire ecosystem. Agric. For. Meteorol. 280, 107783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.107783
- Livingston, G.P., Hutchinson, G.L., 1995. Enclosure-based measurement of trace gas exchange: applications and sources of error, in: Matson, P.A., Harriss, R.C. (Eds.), Biogenic Trace Gases: Measuring Emissions from Soil and Water. Wiley-Blackwell, Cambridge, pp. 14– 50.
- Lloyd, J., Taylor, J.A., 1994. On the Temperature Dependence of Soil Respiration. Funct. Ecol. 8, 315. https://doi.org/10.2307/2389824
- Lund, M., Christensen, T.R., Lindroth, A., Schubert, P., 2012. Effects of drought conditions on the carbon dioxide dynamics in a temperate peatland. Environ. Res. Lett. 7. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/045704
- Lund, M., Lafleur, P.M., Roulet, N.T., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T.R., Aurela, M., Chojnicki, B.H., Flanagan, L.B., Humphreys, E.R., Laurila, T., Oechel, W.C., Olejnik, J., Rinne, J., Schubert, P., Nilsson, M.B., 2010. Variability in exchange of CO₂ across 12 northern peatland and tundra sites. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 2436–2448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02104.x
- Marańón-Jiménez, S., Castro, J., Fernández-Ondoño, E., Zamora, R., 2013. Charred wood remaining after a wildfire as a reservoir of macro- and micronutrients in a Mediterranean pine forest. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22, 681–695. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF12030
- Maynard, D.G., Paré, D., Thiffault, E., Lafleur, B., Hogg, K.E., Kishchuk, B., 2014. How do natural disturbances and human activities affect soils and tree nutrition and growth in the Canadian boreal forest? Environ. Rev. 22, 161–178. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0057
- Meingast, K.M., Falkowski, M.J., Kane, E.S., Potvin, L.R., Benscoter, B.W., Smith, A.M.S., Bourgeau-Chavez, L.L., Miller, M.E., 2014. Spectral detection of near-surface moisture content and water-table position in northern peatland ecosystems. Remote Sens. Environ. 152, 536–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2014.07.014
- Messina, G., Modica, G., 2020. Applications of UAV thermal imagery in precision agriculture: State of the art and future research outlook. Remote Sens. 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/RS12091491
- Miljödepartementet, 2019. En samlad politik för klimatet klimatpolitisk handlingsplan. Regeringens proposition, Stockholm.

- Minkkinen, K., Ojanen, P., Penttilä, T., Aurela, M., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.P., Lohila, A., 2018. Persistent carbon sink at a boreal drained bog forest. Biogeosciences 15, 3603– 3624. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-3603-2018
- Moore, P.A., Lukenbach, M.C., Thompson, D.K., Kettridge, N., Granath, G., Waddington, J.M., 2019. Assessing the peatland hummock-hollow classification framework using highresolution elevation models: Implications for appropriate complexity ecosystem modeling. Biogeosciences 16, 3491–3506. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-16-3491-2019
- O'Neill, K.P., Kasischke, E.S., Richter, D.D., 2002. Environmental controls on soil CO₂ flux following fire in black spruce, white spruce, and aspen stands of interior Alaska. Can. J. For. Res. 32, 1525–1541. https://doi.org/10.1139/x02-077
- Olefeldt, D., Euskirchen, E.S., Harden, J., Kane, E., McGuire, A.D., Waldrop, M.P., Turetsky, M.R., 2017. A decade of boreal rich fen greenhouse gas fluxes in response to natural and experimental water table variability. Glob. Chang. Biol. 23, 2428–2440. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13612
- Olofsson, P., Lagergren, F., Lindroth, A., Lindstrom, J., Klemedtsson, L., Kutsch, W., Eklundh, L., 2008. Towards operational remote sensing of forest carbon balance across Northern Europe. Biogeosciences 5, 817–832. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-5-817-2008
- Örlander, G., Egnell, G., Albrektson, A., 1996. Long-term effects of site preparation on growth in Scots pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 86, 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(96)03797-8
- Pau, S., Detto, M., Kim, Y., Still, C.J., 2018. Tropical forest temperature thresholds for gross primary productivity. Ecosphere 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2311
- Peichl, M., Öquist, M., Ottosson Löfvenius, M., Ilstedt, U., Sagerfors, J., Grelle, A., Lindroth, A., Nilsson, M.B., 2014. A 12-year record reveals pre-growing season temperature and water table level threshold effects on the net carbon dioxide exchange in a boreal fen. Environ. Res. Lett. 9. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/5/055006
- Peichl, M., Sonnentag, O., Nilsson, M.B., 2015. Bringing Color into the Picture: Using Digital Repeat Photography to Investigate Phenology Controls of the Carbon Dioxide Exchange in a Boreal Mire. Ecosystems 18, 115–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-014-9815-z
- Peters, W., Bastos, A., Ciais, P., Vermeulen, A., 2020. A historical, geographical and ecological perspective on the 2018 European summer drought: Perspective on the 2018 European drought. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 375. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0505
- Rahman, M.M., McDermid, G.J., Strack, M., Lovitt, J., 2017. A new method to map groundwater table in peatlands using unmanned aerial vehicles. Remote Sens. 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9101057
- Reichstein, M., Beer, C., 2008. Soil respiration across scales: The importance of a model-data integration framework for data interpretation. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 171, 344–354. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200700075
- Reichstein, M., Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Papale, D., Aubinet, M., Berbigier, P., Bernhofer, C., Buchmann, N., Gilmanov, T., Granier, A., Grünwald, T., Havránková, K., Ilvesniemi,

H., Janous, D., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Lohila, A., Loustau, D., Matteucci, G., Meyers, T., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J.M., Pumpanen, J., Rambal, S., Rotenberg, E., Sanz, M., Tenhunen, J., Seufert, G., Vaccari, F., Vesala, T., Yakir, D., Valentini, R., 2005. On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: Review and improved algorithm. Glob. Chang. Biol. 11, 1424–1439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001002.x

- Ribeiro-Kumara, C., Köster, E., Aaltonen, H., Köster, K., 2020. How do forest fires affect soil greenhouse gas emissions in upland boreal forests? A review. Environ. Res. 184, 109328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109328
- Richardson, A.D., Hufkens, K., Milliman, T., Aubrecht, D.M., Chen, M., Gray, J.M., Johnston, M.R., Keenan, T.F., Klosterman, S.T., Kosmala, M., Melaas, E.K., Friedl, M.A., Frolking, S., 2018. Tracking vegetation phenology across diverse North American biomes using PhenoCam imagery. Sci. Data 5, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.28
- Rinne, J., Tuovinen, J.P., Klemedtsson, L., Aurela, M., Holst, J., Lohila, A., Weslien, P., Vestin, P., Łakomiec, P., Peichl, M., Tuittila, E.S., Heiskanen, L., Laurila, T., Li, X., Alekseychik, P., Mammarella, I., Ström, L., Crill, P., Nilsson, M.B., 2020. Effect of the 2018 European drought on methane and carbon dioxide exchange of northern mire ecosystems. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 375, 20190517. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0517
- Roulet, N.T., Lafleur, P.M., Richard, P.J.H., Moore, T.R., Humphreys, E.R., Bubier, J., 2007. Contemporary carbon balance and late Holocene carbon accumulation in a northern peatland. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01292.x
- Running, S.W., Baldocchi, D.D., Turner, D.P., Gower, S.T., Bakwin, P.S., Hibbard, K.A., 1999. A global terrestrial monitoring network integrating tower fluxes, flask sampling, ecosystem modeling and EOS satellite data. Remote Sens. Environ. 70, 108–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(99)00061-9
- Schubert, P., Eklundh, L., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., 2010. Estimating northern peatland CO₂ exchange from MODIS time series data. Remote Sens. Environ. 114, 1178–1189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2010.01.005
- Senior, R.A., Hill, J.K., Edwards, D.P., 2019. ThermStats: an R package for quantifying surface thermal heterogeneity in assessments of microclimates. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2041– 210X.13257. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13257
- Sierra, C.A., Trumbore, S.E., Davidson, E.A., Vicca, S., Janssens, I.A., 2016. Sensitivity of decomposition rates of soil organic matter with respect to simultaneous changes in temperature and moisture. J. Adv. Model. Earth Syst. 335–356. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014MS000358
- Singh, S., Amiro, B.D., Quideau, S.A., 2008. Effects of forest floor organic layer and root biomass on soil respiration following boreal forest fire. Can. J. For. Res. 38, 647–655. https://doi.org/10.1139/X07-200

- Sonnentag, O., van der Kamp, G., Barr, A.G., Chen, J.M., 2010. On the relationship between water table depth and water vapor and carbon dioxide fluxes in a minerotrophic fen. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 1762–1776. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02032.x
- SOU, 2019. Skogsbränderna sommaren 2018. Stockholm.
- Still, C., Powell, R., Aubrecht, D., Kim, Y., Helliker, B., Roberts, D., Richardson, A.D., Goulden, M., 2019. Thermal imaging in plant and ecosystem ecology: applications and challenges. Ecosphere 10, e02768. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2768
- Strack, M., Waddington, J.M., Lucchese, M.C., Cagampan, J.P., 2009. Moisture controls on CO₂ exchange in a Sphagnum-dominated peatlands: results from an extreme drought field experiment. Ecohydrology 2, 454–461. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.68
- Sulman, B.N., Desai, A.R., Saliendra, N.Z., Lafleur, P.M., Flanagan, L.B., Sonnentag, O., MacKay, D.S., Barr, A.G., Van Der Kamp, G., 2010. CO₂ fluxes at northern fens and bogs have opposite responses to inter-annual fluctuations in water table. Geophys. Res. Lett. 37, 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL044018
- Thiffault, E., Bélanger, N., Paré, D., Munson, A.D., 2007. How do forest harvesting methods compare with wildfire? A case study of soil chemistry and tree nutrition in the boreal forest. Can. J. For. Res. 37, 1658–1668. https://doi.org/10.1139/X07-031
- Turetsky, M.R., Kotowska, A., Bubier, J., Dise, N.B., Crill, P., Hornibrook, E.R.C., Minkkinen, K., Moore, T.R., Myers-Smith, I.H., Nykänen, H., Olefeldt, D., Rinne, J., Saarnio, S., Shurpali, N., Tuittila, E.S., Waddington, J.M., White, J.R., Wickland, K.P., Wilmking, M., 2014. A synthesis of methane emissions from 71 northern, temperate, and subtropical wetlands. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 2183–2197. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12580
- Valentini, R., Matteucci, G., Dolman, A.J., Schulze, E., Rebmann, C., Moors, E.J., Granier, A., Gross, P., Jensen, N.O., 2000. Respiration as the main determininant of carbon balance in European forests. Nature 404, 861–865. https://doi.org/10.1038/35009084
- van't Hoff, J.H., 1898. Lectures in theoretical and physical chemistry: part I: chemical dynamics. Edward Arnold, London.
- Vitt, D.H., 2006. Functional Characteristics and Indicators of Boreal Peatlands, in: Wieder, R.K., Vitt, D.H. (Eds.), Boreal Peatland Ecosystems. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-31913-9_2
- Waddington, J.M., Roulet, N.T., 2000. Carbon balance of a boreal patterned peatland. Glob. Chang. Biol. 6, 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.00283.x
- Waddington, J.M., Roulet, N.T., 1996. Atmosphere-wetland carbon exchanges: scale dependency of CO_2 and CH_4 exchange on the developmental topography of a peatland. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 10, 233–245.
- Walker, S., 2020. Low-altitude aerial thermography for the archaeological investigation of arctic landscapes. J. Archaeol. Sci. 117, 105126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2020.105126
- Walker, T.N., Garnett, M.H., Ward, S.E., Oakley, S., Bardgett, R.D., Ostle, N.J., 2016. Vascular plants promote ancient peatland carbon loss with climate warming. Glob.

Chang. Biol. 22, 1880-1889. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13213

- Walker, X.J., Baltzer, J.L., Cumming, S.G., Day, N.J., Ebert, C., Goetz, S., Johnstone, J.F., Potter, S., Rogers, B.M., Schuur, E.A.G., Turetsky, M.R., Mack, M.C., 2019. Increasing wildfires threaten historic carbon sink of boreal forest soils. Nature 572, 520–523. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1474-y
- Wang, S., Garcia, M., Bauer-Gottwein, P., Jakobsen, J., Zarco-Tejada, P.J., Bandini, F., Paz, V.S., Ibrom, A., 2019. High spatial resolution monitoring land surface energy, water and CO₂ fluxes from an Unmanned Aerial System. Remote Sens. Environ. 229, 14–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.03.040
- Whiting, G.J., Chanton, J.P., 2001. Greenhouse carbon balance of wetlands: Methane emission versus carbon sequestration. Tellus, Ser. B Chem. Phys. Meteorol. 53, 521–528. https://doi.org/10.3402/tellusb.v53i5.16628
- Wilson, D., Blain, D., Cowenberg, J., Evans, C.D., Murdiyarso, D., Page, S.E., Renou-Wilson, F., Rieley, J.O., Sirin, A., Strack, M., Tuittila, E., 2016. Greenhouse gas emission factors associated with rewetting of organic soils. Mires Peat 17, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.19189/MaP.2016.OMB.222
- Wohlfahrt, G., Galvagno, M., 2017. Revisiting the choice of the driving temperature for eddy covariance CO₂ flux partitioning. Agric. For. Meteorol. 237–238, 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.02.012
- Yang, W., Gardelin, M., Olsson, J., Bosshard, T., 2015. Multi-variable bias correction: Application of forest fire risk in present and future climate in Sweden. Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci. 15, 2037–2057. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-15-2037-2015
- Yuan, W., Luo, Y., Li, X., Liu, S., Yu, G., Zhou, T., Bahn, M., Black, A., Desai, A.R., Cescatti, A., Marcolla, B., Jacobs, C., Chen, J., Aurela, M., Bernhofer, C., Gielen, B., Bohrer, G., Cook, D.R., Dragoni, D., Dunn, A.L., Gianelle, D., Grnwald, T., Ibrom, A., Leclerc, M.Y., Lindroth, A., Liu, H., Marchesini, L.B., Montagnani, L., Pita, G., Rodeghiero, M., Rodrigues, A., Starr, G., Stoy, P.C., 2011. Redefinition and global estimation of basal ecosystem respiration rate. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 25, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011GB004150
- Yuan, Z.Y., Chen, H.Y.H., 2010. Fine root biomass, production, turnover rates, and nutrient contents in boreal forest ecosystems in relation to species, climate, fertility, and stand age: Literature review and meta-analyses. CRC. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 29, 204–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2010.483579
- Yue, C., Ciais, P., Zhu, D., Wang, T., Peng, S.S., Piao, S.L., 2016. How have past fire disturbances contributed to the current carbon balance of boreal ecosystems? Biogeosciences 13, 675–690. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-675-2016
- Zackrisson, O., 1977. Influence of Forest Fires on the North Swedish Boreal Forest. Oikos 29, 22–32. https://doi.org/10.2307/3543289

Acknowledgements

There are many people who have been strong grounding and supportive forces over the past four years to whom I owe a great deal of gratitude for ensuring that this thesis became an actual book.

Natascha, your energy and enthusiasm are contagious and I am so grateful for your constant support, patience, knowledge, guidance and investment in this project. Thank you for standing by me when I had given up and for always giving me your time and feedback when I needed it. I feel extremely lucky and privileged to have had you as my main supervisor and I look forward to our future adventures.

Lars, I've learnt not only about all aspects of remote sensing but also about the fundamentals of good research practice from working with you. Thank you for your support over the last few years and for providing access to the UAVs, workstation, car and cameras that have been essential to much of the work in this thesis.

Xianghua, thank you for welcoming me into the world of computer science and for letting me use the resources in your lab. Collaborating across disciplines is challenging and I don't think I did it justice in this thesis but I hope that I can next time.

Thank you also to **Cris**, **Stefan** and **Theresa** for being such dedicated co-authors and for sharing your data and feedback with me.

There are also many people working behind the scenes whose knowledge and time I have benefited from over the last four years. Stor tack till hela gänget på skogaryds fältstation – David Allbrand, Per Weslien, Bengt Liljebladh, Sven-Elof Andersson och Leif Klemedtsson – för er tid och energi med installering och underhåll av all utrustning. Tack Sven-Elof för att vi fick låna din verkstad och dina verktyg och att du hämtade mig när bilen inte ville starta. To Per-Ola and Virginia, thank you for teaching me about (and conducting) UAV flying and data processing. Meelis, tack för all din hjälp i labbet med mina värmekameraexperiment. Patrik, I learned more about flux measurements on our drive up to Skogaryd than in some of the courses I took. Thank you also for your kindness and for helping me get started with the measurements. Henni, thank you for volunteering to accompany me up to Skogaryd and for your honesty, friendship and spirit that have always inspired me; you truly are a 'rising star' in your field.

This PhD started at the Geography Department at Swansea University in Wales, UK. I'm grateful to all the staff there for making me feel at home. To Adrian Luckman, Katherine Ficken and Peter North, thank you for taking me on as a demonstrator, it was one of the most rewarding experiences of the PhD. Thank you also to Anna, Carmen, Josie, Neil and all the other Swansea PhD students for your warm welcome and friendship that carried me through the first year and half of the PhD, and beyond. Jakob, thank you for sharing a house and the start of the PhD journey with me.

In January 2018, the PhD continued at CEC. I'm grateful to those who jumped through hoops and ploughed through mounds of paperwork to make the transition possible. Thank you to everyone at CEC for making this such a friendly environment to work in, be it in the office or online. Special thanks to Pål Axel and Maria H for guiding me though the Swedish PhD system and to Stina, Anna Maria, Cheryl, Anna, Annika, Asa-Katrin, Irene, Karin, Eva, Lina and Ylva for organizing the ClimbEco Research School and helping me with all the administrative work surrounding the PhD. Henni and Nikos, one of the best things about coming into work is sharing an office with you. I'm looking forward to when you can ask me English grammar questions and we can have fika breaks in person again. Thank you Willi for checking in with me in our corridor and lunchtime chats. Tack Lina, Åsa-Katrin, Niklas och alla andra som pratade med mig på svenska så att jag kunde öva. Romain, thanks for your warmth and laughter, for our bus chats and SFU chats. Pernilla, I'm so happy we got to know each other, especially over the last few months, our walks around Malmö have been a much needed breath of fresh air. I'm also grateful to all the CEC and INES PhD students who I've gotten to know over the last few years who've created a sense a community and provided moral support. Micaela and Maria BR, thank you for all your positive energy that always makes me smile. Sofia, I can't wait until we can go to the sauna again together; thank you for being a great friend and co-author. Joel, the summer of 2018 was memorable for many reasons but the one that will stick in my mind is our fieldwork season with 'Outlaw Pete' and the 'Queen of the Supermarket' on repeat.

To all my friends outside Sweden, thank you for being there and for sharing your lives with me, I hope we can see each other again soon.

To my family, thank you for being my safety net, for providing me with so many opportunities and for always encouraging me to do what I want to do.

Blood, sweat and a lot of vomit has gone into making this PhD. Jonas, thank you for being by my side day in and day out, for carrying on when I couldn't, for all your help in the field and for always bringing hope, laughter and love into my life. I could not have done this without you.